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PART I

ITEM 1.          FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 
  September 30,  December 31, 
  2016   2015  
  (Unaudited)   (Revised)  
Current Assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 515,963  $ 2,070,693 
Accounts receivable, net   1,839,474   2,510,530 
Short-term investments   -    500,000 
Incremental direct costs   547,616   1,023,916 
Prepaid license fee   -    112,500 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   229,689   411,592 

Total current assets   3,132,742   6,629,231 
         

Property and equipment, net   313,622   444,398 
Capitalized technology, net   240,463   456,523 
Goodwill   20,201,190   20,201,190 
Intangible assets, net   9,900,539   12,051,839 
Merchant reserve   1,426,927   1,260,849 
Security deposits   189,375   383,786 
Other assets   1,049,026   -  

Total assets  $ 36,453,884  $ 41,427,816 
         
Current Liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 5,359,151  $ 4,465,941 
Accrued expenses   1,519,491   837,712 
Deferred revenue   6,406,542   9,966,893 
Customer deposits   -    112,500 
Promissory note   445,000   445,000 

Total current liabilities   13,730,184   15,828,046 
         

Deferred tax liability   3,724,816   4,942,908 
Line of credit – Master Credit Facility, net of unamortized debt issuance costs   827,679   -  
Deferred rent   55,434   45,155 
Other liabilities   47,367   426,267 

Total liabilities   18,385,480   21,242,376 
         
Commitments and contingencies         
         
Stockholders' Equity         

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized; 1,815,232
 shares issued as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015; and 1,808,628
 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015   18,097   18,097 
Additional paid in capital   64,956,199   63,554,194 
Accumulated deficit   (46,868,775)   (43,349,734)
Treasury stock, at cost; 1,048 shares at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015   (37,117)   (37,117)

Total stockholders' equity   18,068,404   20,185,440 
         

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 36,453,884  $ 41,427,816 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (Unaudited)
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2016   2015   2016   2015  
     (Revised)      (Revised)  
Revenues             

Membership fees and related services  $ 3,748,334  $ 5,652,873  $ 13,047,652  $ 18,885,308 
Lead generation   1,554,370   2,334,276   4,489,919   7,853,402 
Recruitment services   954,887   830,250   2,295,556   2,432,951 
Product sales and other   52,857   330,769   544,440   631,198 
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   49,719   73,011   176,771   209,097 

Total revenues   6,360,167   9,221,179   20,554,338   30,011,956 
                 
Costs and expenses:                 

Cost of revenues   745,159   1,464,214   2,433,550   4,647,520 
Sales and marketing   3,064,454   5,132,077   10,314,145   17,226,640 
General and administrative   3,010,862   3,748,138   9,428,493   11,593,955 
Impairment expense   -    26,744,249   -    26,744,249 
Depreciation and amortization   819,894   925,684   2,498,136   2,730,880 
Loss on sale of property and equipment   -    32,649   -    32,649 

Total costs and expenses   7,640,369   38,047,011   24,674,324   62,975,893 
                 

Loss from operations   (1,280,202)   (28,825,832)   (4,119,986)   (32,963,937)
                 
Other (expense) income                 

Interest expense   (215,781)   (9,229)   (216,948)   (84,339)
Interest and other income   150   2,382   801   25,566 

Other income (expense), net   (215,631)   (6,847)   (216,147)   (58,773)
                 
Change in fair value of warrant liability   (401,000)   2,224   (401,000)   93,784 
                 
Loss before income tax benefit   (1,896,833)   (28,830,455)   (4,737,133)   (32,928,926)

Income tax expense (benefit)   (623,699)   2,976,217   (1,218,092)   1,509,395
Net loss  $ (1,273,134)  $ (31,806,672)  $ (3,519,041)  $ (34,438,321)
                 
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted  $ (0.70)  $ (17.59)  $ (1.94)  $ (20.05)
                 
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss
 per common share:                 

Basic and diluted   1,809,676   1,808,099   1,809,676   1,717,816 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)
 
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015  
Cash flows from operating activities:     (Revised)  
Net loss  $ (3,519,041)  $ (34,438,321)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   2,498,136   2,730,880 
Deferred tax benefit   (1,218,092)   1,509,395 
Gain on lease cancellation   (423,998)   -  
Impairment expense   -    26,744,249 
Stock-based compensation expense   217,547   350,667 
Amortization of deferred financing costs   156,594   -  
Amortization of prepaid license fees   112,500   168,750 
Amortization of premium on short-term investments, net   -    76,878 
Amortization of customer deposits   (112,500)   (168,750)
Change in fair value of warrant liability   401,000   (93,784)
Accretion of debt discount   -    7,814 
Loss on sale of property and equipment   -    32,649 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   671,056   886,810 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   181,903   (682,541)
Incremental direct costs   476,300   (184,420)
Accounts payable   893,210   (1,630,793)
Accrued expenses   681,779   1,510,273 
Deferred revenue   (3,560,351)   (1,089,802)
Deferred rent   10,279   63,267 
Other liabilities   45,098   -  

Net cash used in operating activities   (2,488,580)   (4,206,779)
         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments   500,000   5,297,000 
Purchases of short-term investments   -    (925,000)
Costs incurred to develop technology   -    (393,385)
Purchases of property and equipment   -    (53,596)
Security deposit   194,411   (14,952)

Net cash provided by investing activities   694,411   3,910,067 
         
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from the sale of common stock   -    5,235,300 
Repayment of note payable   -    (1,294,753)
Payment of offering costs   -    (670,877)
Proceeds from line of credit   1,942,625   -  
Payment of debt issuance costs related to Master Credit Facility   (488,082)   -  
Payment of deferred offering costs related to CFL Transaction   (1,049,026)   -  
Merchant reserve   (166,078)   (400,000)
Shares repurchased on vesting of restricted stock   -    (195,976)
Payments of capital leases   -    (15,232)

Net cash provided by financing activities   239,439   2,658,462 
         
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (1,554,730)   2,361,750 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   2,070,693   1,519,467 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 515,963  $ 3,881,217 
         
Supplemental disclosures of other cash flow information:         

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 4,605  $ 4,631 
Cash paid for interest  $ 21,740  $ - 

         
         
         
Non-cash investing and financing activities:         

Issuance of warrants in connection with Master Credit Facility  $ 783,458  $ - 
Reclassification of derivative liability to additional paid in capital  $ 781,000  $ - 
Working capital adjustment to note payable  $ -  $ 32,281 
Increase in goodwill resulting from NAPW legal settlement  $ -  $ 133,693 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

 



3



Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
1. Description of Business
 
Professional Diversity Network, Inc. is both the operator of the Professional Diversity Network (the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us,” “PDN
Network,” “PDN” or the “Professional Diversity Network”) and a holding company for NAPW, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the operator of the National Association of Professional Women (the “NAPW Network” or “NAPW”), as well as Noble
Voice LLC and Compliant Lead LLC (collectively, “Noble Voice”), each of which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
together provide career consultation services. The Company is a corporation organized under the laws of Delaware, originally formed as IH
Acquisition, LLC under the laws of the State of Illinois on October 3, 2003. The PDN Network operates online professional networking
communities with career resources specifically tailored to the needs of different diverse cultural groups including: Women, Hispanic-
Americans, African-Americans, Asian-Americans, Disabled, Military Professionals, Lesbians, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT),
and Students and Graduates seeking to transition from education to career. The networks’ purposes, among others, are to assist its registered
users in their efforts to connect with like-minded individuals, identify career opportunities within the network and connect with prospective
employers. The Company’s technology platform is integral to the operation of its business. The NAPW Network is an exclusive women-
only professional networking organization, whereby its members can develop their professional networks, further their education and skills,
and promote their business and career accomplishments. NAPW provides its members with opportunities to network and develop valuable
business relationships with other professionals through its website, as well as at events hosted at its local chapters across the country. The
Noble Voice division typically conducts over 24,000 career consultations per week. Noble Voice monetizes these consultations by using
proprietary technology to drive inexpensive online traffic to our offline call center and generating value-added leads for the Company’s
strategic partners who provide continuing education and career services.

Reverse Stock Split and Increase in Authorized Shares

On September 27, 2016, the Company effected a 1-for-8 reverse stock split of its common stock (“Reverse Stock Split”) and
proportionately reduced the number of shares of common stock the Company is authorized to issue. The par value of the Company’s
common stock remained the same. As a result of the Reverse Stock Split, every eight shares of common stock was combined into one share
of common stock. Immediately after the September 27, 2016 effective date, the Company had 1,808,628 shares of common stock
outstanding. All share and per share amounts have been retroactively restated to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

On October 17, 2016, following the approval of its stockholders, the Company amended its Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation in order to increase the number of authorized shares of its common stock to 45,000,000 shares.

2. Liquidity, Financial Condition and Management’s Plans
 
At September 30, 2016, the Company’s principal sources of liquidity were its cash and cash equivalents, the net proceeds from its 2015
public offering and the Master Credit Facility (as defined in Note 6) with White Winston, as described in Note 6. As discussed in Note 14,
in November 2016, the Company received net proceeds from the closing of the CFL Transaction (as defined in Note 8) and terminated the
Master Credit Facility.
 
The Company had an accumulated deficit of approximately $46,869,000 at September 30, 2016. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Company generated a net loss of approximately $3,519,000, used cash in operations of approximately
$2,489,000, and the Company expects that it will continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. At September 30, 2016,
the Company had a cash balance of approximately $516,000. Total revenues were approximately $6,360,000 and $9,221,000 for the three
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and approximately $20,554,000 and $30,012,000 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company had a working capital deficit of approximately $10,597,000 and $9,199,000 at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
 
The Company is closely monitoring operating costs and capital requirements and has developed an operating plan for 2016. The Company
is making cost reductions in the areas of its staffing levels and operating budgets. In addition, on March 30, 2016, the Company entered into
a Master Credit Facility pursuant to which it was granted a revolving credit facility in the principal amount up to the lesser of $5,000,000 or
75% of the outstanding balance of eligible customer receivables, or, if requested, the lender may approve discretionary drawdowns under
the facility. On June 30, 2016, the Company closed the Master Credit Facility and received an initial disbursement of $1,572,576 (before
reduction of related fees and expenses) (see Note 6). During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company received additional
advances in the aggregate amount of $370,050. As of September 30, 2016, the Company had drawn approximately $791,000 more than its
availability under the Master Credit Facility. As described in Note 14, on November 7, 2016, in connection with the Share Issuance
described below, the Company repaid all outstanding obligations under the Master Credit Facility and terminated the Master Credit
Facility.
 

4



Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
On November 7, 2016, the Company consummated the issuance and sale of 1,777,417 shares of the Company’s common stock to Cosmic
Forward Limited at a price of $9.60 per share (“Share Issuance”) (see Note 14). In addition, on November 7, 2016, the Company completed
the purchase of 312,500 shares of its common stock at a price of $9.60 per share (“Tender Offer”) (see Note 14). The Company received
total gross proceeds of $17,100,000 from the Share Issuance, or $14,100,000 after giving effect to the payment for the 312,500 shares of
common stock from the Tender Offer. The Company received approximately $9,000,000 in net proceeds from the Share Issuance, after
repayment of all amounts outstanding under the Master Credit Facility and the payment of transaction-related expenses.
 
Management believes that its available funds and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet its working capital requirements for
the next twelve months from the date of this filing. However, there can be no assurances that the plans and actions proposed by
management will be successful, that the Company will generate anticipated revenues, or that unforeseen circumstances will not require
additional funding sources in the future or effectuate plans to conserve liquidity. Future efforts to raise additional funds may not be
successful or they may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation – The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and
pursuant to the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). Certain information or footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have
been condensed or omitted, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC for interim financial reporting. Accordingly, they do not
include all the information and footnotes necessary for a comprehensive presentation of financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows. It is management’s opinion, however, that the accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements include
all adjustments, consisting of a normal recurring nature, which are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, operating
results and cash flows for the periods presented.

 
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 as filed with the SEC on March 30, 2016 and amended May 4, 2016
(the “Annual Report”), which contains the audited financial statements and notes thereto, together with Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. The financial information as of December 31, 2015 is derived from the audited
financial statements presented in the Annual Report. The interim results for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016 or for any future interim periods.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period.

Making estimates requires management to exercise significant judgment.  It is at least reasonably possible that the estimate of the effect of
a condition, situation or set of circumstances that existed at the date of the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements,
which management considered in formulating its estimate, could change in the near term due to one or more future intervening events.
Accordingly, the actual results could differ significantly from estimates.
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Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
Significant estimates underlying the financial statements include the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities associated with
acquisitions; assessment of goodwill, other intangible assets and long-lived assets for impairment; allowances for doubtful accounts and
assumptions related to the valuation of stock-based compensation.
 
Principles of Consolidation – The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Revision of Financial Statements – During the preparation of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2016, the Company determined that it had incorrectly recorded a discount against certain deferred revenue acquired in the
acquisition of NAPW on September 24, 2014 and miscalculated amortization of such deferred revenue during the quarter ended March
31, 2015. The error resulted in an understatement of “Deferred revenue” and “Goodwill” recorded in the acquisition and subsequently
resulted in an overstatement of “Revenues” and an understatement of “Impairment expense” and “Net loss” during each of the quarterly
periods during the year ended December 31, 2015 and for the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company assessed the materiality of
the misstatement in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99, “Materiality,” and concluded that this misstatement was not
material to the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations for the prior periods and that amendments of previously
filed reports were not required. However, the Company determined that the impact of the corrections would be too significant to record in
the third quarter of fiscal 2016. As such, the revision for the correction is reflected in the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015 financial information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q. Disclosure of the revised amounts will also be reflected in future
filings containing the applicable periods.
 
The effect of this revision on the line items within the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 was as
follows:
 
  December 31, 2015  
  As previously        
  reported   Adjustment   As revised  
Deferred revenue  $ 7,507,176  $ 2,459,717  $ 9,966,893 
Total current liabilities   13,368,329   2,459,717   15,828,046 
Total liabilities   18,782,659   2,459,717   21,242,376 
Accumulated deficit   (40,890,017)   (2,459,717)   (43,349,734)
Stockholders’ equity  $ 22,645,157  $ (2,459,717)  $ 20,185,440 

The effect of this revision on the line items within the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was as follows:
 
  Three Months Ended  
  September 30, 2015  
  As previously        
  reported   Adjustment   As revised  
Revenues  $ 9,343,312  $ (122,133)  $ 9,221,179 
Impairment expense   24,717,157   2,027,092   26,744,249 
Loss from operations   (26,676,607)   (2,149,225)   (28,825,832)
Net loss  $ (29,657,447)  $ (2,149,225)  $ (31,806,672)
Net loss per share:             

Basic and Diluted (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split)  $ (16.40)  $ (1.19)  $ (17.59)
 
  Nine Months Ended  
  September 30, 2015  
  As previously        
  reported   Adjustment   As revised  
Revenues  $ 30,444,581  $ (432,625)  $ 30,011,956 
Impairment expense   24,717,157   2,027,092   26,744,249 
Loss from operations   (30,504,220)   (2,459,717)   (32,963,937)
Net loss  $ (31,978,604)  $ (2,459,717)  $ (34,438,321)
Net loss per share:             

Basic and Diluted (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split)  $ (18.62)  $ (1.43)  $ (20.05)

The effect of this revision on the line items within the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months
ended September 30, 2015 was as follows:
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Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
  Nine Months Ended  
  September 30, 2015  
  As previously        
  reported   Adjustment   As revised  

Net loss  $ (31,978,604)  $ (2,459,717)  $ (34,438,321)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:             

Impairment expense   24,717,157   2,027,092   26,744,249 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: deferred revenue   (1,522,427)   432,625   (1,089,802)

Cash used in operating activities  $ (4,206,779)  $ —  $ (4,206,779)

Short-Term Investments – All highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of greater than 90 days but less than one year at the
date of purchase are classified as short-term investments. The Company classifies short-term investments as held to maturity and carries
them at amortized cost if the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity.

Revenue Recognition – Revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions exist: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, (2) services are performed, (3) the sales price is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured.

Membership Fees and Related Services

Membership fees are collected up-front and member benefits become available immediately; however those benefits must remain available
over the 12 month membership period. At the time of enrollment, membership fees are recorded as a liability under deferred revenue and
are recognized as revenue ratably over the 12 month membership period. Members who are enrolled in this plan may cancel their
membership in the program at any time and receive a partial refund (amount remaining in deferred revenue) or due to consumer protection
legislation, a full refund based on the policies of the member’s credit card company.
 
Revenue from related membership services are derived from fees for development and set-up of a member’s personal on-line profile and/or
press release announcements. Fees related to these services are recognized as revenue at the time the on-line profile is complete and press
release is distributed.
 
Lead Generation

The Company derives lead generation revenues pursuant to arrangements with for-profit educational centers. Under these arrangements,
the Company matches educational centers with potential candidates, pursuant to specific parameters defined in each arrangement. The
Company invoices the educational centers on a monthly basis based upon the number of leads provided. Revenues related to lead
generation are recognized at the time the educational centers are invoiced.

Recruitment Services
 
The Company’s recruitment services revenue is derived from the Company’s agreements through single and multiple job postings,
recruitment media, talent recruitment communities, basic and premier corporate memberships, hiring campaign marketing and advertising,
e-newsletter marketing and research and outreach services. Recruitment revenue includes revenue recognized from direct sales to customers
for recruitment services and events, as well as revenue from the Company’s direct e-commerce sales. Direct sales to customers are most
typically a twelve month contract for services and as such the revenue for each contract is recognized ratably over its twelve month term.
Event revenue is recognized in the month that the event takes place and e-commerce sales are for one month job postings and the revenue
from those sales are recognized in the month the sale is made.
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Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
Product Sales and Other Revenue

Products offered to members relate to custom made plaques and an annual registry book. Product sales are recognized as liabilities under
deferred revenue at the time the initial order is placed. Revenue is then recognized at the time these products are shipped. The Company’s
shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
 
Consumer Advertising and Marketing Solutions
 
The Company provides career opportunity services to its various partner organizations through advertising and job postings on their
websites. The Company works with its partners to develop customized websites and job boards where the partners can generate advertising,
job postings and career services to their members, students and alumni. Partner revenue is recognized as jobs are posted to their hosted sites.

Advertising and Marketing Expenses – Advertising and marketing expenses are expensed as incurred or the first time the advertising takes
place. The production costs of advertising are expensed the first time the advertising takes place. For the three months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015, the Company incurred advertising and marketing expenses of approximately $657,000 and $1,506,000, respectively. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred advertising and marketing expenses of approximately
$1,842,000 and $4,227,000, respectively. These amounts are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying condensed
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were no prepaid advertising expenses
recorded in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Net Loss per Share – The Company computes basic net loss per share by dividing net loss per share available to common stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period and excludes the effects of any potentially dilutive securities.
Diluted earnings per share, if presented, would include the dilution that would occur upon the exercise or conversion of all potentially
dilutive securities into common stock using the “treasury stock” and/or “if converted” methods as applicable. The computation of basic net
loss per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 excludes the potentially dilutive securities summarized in
the table below because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
 

  2016   2015  
Warrants to purchase common stock   514,064   45,314 
Stock options   72,886   19,732 
Unvested restricted stock   5,556   25,002 
   592,506   90,048 

  
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-17,
“Consolidation (Topic 810): Interests Held through Related Parties That Are under Common Control” (“ASU 2016-17”). ASU 2016-17
changes how a reporting entity that is a decision maker should consider indirect interests in a variable interest entity (“VIE”) held through
an entity under common control. If a decision maker must evaluate whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, it will only need to
consider its proportionate indirect interest in the VIE held through a common control party. ASU 2016-17 amends ASU 2015-02 and
currently directs the decision maker to treat the common control party’s interest in the VIE as if the decision maker held the interest itself.
ASU 2016-17 is effective for public business entities in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within
those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2016-17 will have a material
effect on its financial position or results of operations.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740)” (“ASU 2016-16”), which reduces the complexity in the
accounting standards by allowing the recognition of current and deferred income taxes for an intra-entity asset transfer, other than
inventory, when the transfer occurs. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted using a modified retrospective transition approach. The Company is currently
assessing the impact of the adoption of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows: Clarification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash
Payments” (“ASU 2016-15”), which eliminates the diversity in practice related to the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in
the statement of cash flows, by adding or clarifying guidance on eight specific cash flow issues: debt prepayment or debt extinguishment
costs; settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the
effective interest rate of the borrowing; contingent consideration payments made after a business combination; proceeds from the
settlement of insurance claims; proceeds from the settlement of corporate-owned life insurance policies (including bank-owned life
insurance policies); distributions received from equity method investees; beneficial interests in securitization transactions; and separately
identifiable cash flows and application of the predominance principle. ASU 2016-15 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2017 and early adoption is permitted. ASU 2016-15 provides for retrospective application for all periods presented. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses” (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 introduces a new
model for estimating credit losses for certain types of financial instruments, including loans receivable, held-to-maturity debt securities and
net investments in direct financing leases, amongst other financial instruments. ASU 2016-13 also modifies the impairment model for
available-for-sale debt securities and expands the disclosure requirements regarding an entity’s assumptions, models, and methods for
estimating the allowance for losses. ASU 2016-13 is effective for public business entities in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early application of the guidance permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) – Narrow-Scope Improvements
and Practical Expedients” (“ASU 2016-12”), which further amended ASU 2016-09 by providing additional clarity in recognizing revenue
from contracts that have been modified prior to the transition period to the new standard, as well as providing additional disclosure
requirements for businesses and other organizations that make the transition to the new standard by adjusting amounts from prior reporting
periods via retrospective application. The Company is continuing to evaluate the expected impact of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
 
In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing” (“ASU 2016-10”). ASU 2016-10 clarifies two aspects of Topic 606: (a) identifying performance obligations;
and (b) the licensing implementation guidance. The update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017 including
interim reporting periods therein. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial
statements.
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 was issued as part of the FASB’s simplification initiative and affects
all entities that issue share-based payment awards to their employees. The amendments in this update cover such areas as the recognition
of excess tax benefits and deficiencies, the classification of those excess tax benefits on the statement of cash flows, an accounting policy
election for forfeitures, the amount an employer can withhold to cover income taxes and still qualify for equity classification and the
classification of those taxes paid on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. This guidance can be applied either prospectively, retrospectively or using a modified retrospective transition method,
depending on the area covered in this update. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not believe the adoption of this guidance
will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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September 30,

2016   
December 31,

2015  
Capitalized cost:       

Balance, beginning of period  $ 1,888,791  $ 1,469,432 
Additional capitalized cost   -    419,359 
Balance, end of period  $ 1,888,791  $ 1,888,791 

         
         

Accumulated amortization:         
Balance, beginning of period  $ 1,432,268  $ 943,362 
Provision for amortization   216,060   488,906 
Balance, end of period  $ 1,648,328  $ 1,432,268 

Capitalized Technology, net  $ 240,463  $ 456,523 

Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, “Revenue from contracts with customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net.” The amendments are intended to improve the operability and understandability of
the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations by amending certain existing illustrative examples and adding
additional illustrative examples to assist in the application of the guidance. The effective date and transition of these amendments is the
same as the effective date and transition of ASU 2014-09. Public entities should apply the amendments in ASU 2014-09 for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods therein. Private entities must apply the
amendments one year later. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued new lease accounting guidance ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases” (“ASU 2016-02”). Under the new
guidance, at the commencement date, lessees will be required to recognize a lease liability, which is a lessee‘s obligation to make lease
payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to
use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. The new guidance is not applicable for leases with a term of 12 months or
less. Lessor accounting is largely unchanged. Public business entities should apply the amendments in ASU 2016-02 for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted upon issuance.
Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified
retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in
the financial statements. The modified retrospective approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the
earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
 
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern”
(“ASU 2014-15”). ASU 2014-15 provides guidance on management’s responsibility in evaluating whether there is substantial doubt about a
company’s ability to continue as a going concern and about related footnote disclosures. For each reporting period, management will be
required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about a company’s ability to continue as a going
concern within one year from the date the financial statements are issued. The amendments in ASU 2014-15 are effective for annual
reporting periods ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company
will adopt the methodologies prescribed by ASU 2014-15 by the date required, and does not anticipate that the adoption of ASU 2014-15
will have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations.
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 provides
guidance for revenue recognition and affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or
enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets and supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, “Revenue
Recognition,” and most industry-specific guidance. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is the recognition of revenue when a company
transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled
to in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five-step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so,
companies will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under the current guidance. These may include identifying
performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating
the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 was initially effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017 and interim periods therein, using either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting
the application of the standard in each prior reporting period with the option to elect certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective
approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the date of adoption (which includes additional
footnote disclosures). Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the method and impact the adoption of ASU
2014-09 will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In July 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date
of ASU 2014-09 for one year, and proposed some modifications to the original provisions.
 
4. Capitalized Technology
 
Capitalized Technology, net is as follows:
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Years ending December 31,    
2016 (three months)  $ 717,100 
2017   2,802,233 
2018   2,563,872 
2019   1,846,697 
2020   397,000 
2021   397,000 
Thereafter   1,086,237 

  $ 9,810,139 

Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
Amortization expense of $62,495 and $153,984 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $216,060 and
$335,585 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, is recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in
the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
 
5. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, net is as follows:

September 30, 2016  
Useful Lives

(Years)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount  

Long-lived intangible assets:             
Sales Process   10  $ 3,970,000  $ (799,514)  $ 3,170,486 
Paid Member Relationships   5   890,000   (358,472)   531,528 
Member Lists   5   8,957,000   (3,607,681)   5,349,319 
Developed Technology   3   978,000   (636,666)   341,334 
Trade Name/Trademarks   4   480,000   (239,861)   240,139 
Customer Relationships   5   280,000   (102,667)   177,333 

       15,555,000   (5,744,861)   9,810,139 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:                 

Trade Name               90,400 
                 
Intangible assets, net              $ 9,900,539 
 

December 31, 2015  
Useful Lives

(Years)   

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount  

Long-lived intangible assets:             
Sales Process   10  $ 3,970,000  $ (501,764)  $ 3,468,236 
Paid Member Relationships   5   890,000   (224,972)   665,028 
Member Lists   5   8,957,000   (2,264,131)   6,692,869 
Developed Technology   3   978,000   (392,167)   585,833 
Trade Name/Trademarks   4   480,000   (149,860)   330,140 
Customer Relationships   5   280,000   (60,667)   219,333 

       15,555,000   (3,593,561)   11,961,439 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:                 

Trade Name               90,400 
                 
Intangible assets, net              $ 12,051,839 

Future annual estimated amortization expense is summarized as follows:
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Total Master Credit Facility  $ 1,942,625 
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs   (1,114,946)
Total Master Credit Facility, net of unamortized debt issuance costs   827,679 
Less: Current portion of Master Credit Facility   -  
Long-term portion  $ 827,679 

Professional Diversity Network, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
Amortization expense of $717,100 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and $2,151,300 and $2,165,286 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, is recorded in depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

6. Master Credit Facility

At September 30, 2016, the Company’s Master Credit Facility is comprised of the following:
 

On March 30, 2016, the Company entered into a Master Credit Facility with White Winston Select Asset Funds, LLC (“White Winston”), a
private investment fund, pursuant to which the Company was granted a revolving credit facility (the “Master Credit Facility”) in the
aggregate amount of up to $5,000,000. On June 30, 2016 (the “Closing Date”), the Company closed the Master Credit Facility and an
initial disbursement of $1,572,576 (before reduction of related fees and expenses, or $1,022,623 of net proceeds) was made pursuant to the
Master Credit Facility. Advances under the Master Credit Facility were issued at 95% of par value (the “Debt Discount”), with such Debt
Discount deducted from the gross amount of the proceeds available under the Master Credit Facility at Closing and recorded as a debt
issuance cost. White Winston could make advances under the Master Credit Facility provided that the aggregate principal amount
outstanding under the Master Credit Facility did not exceed 75% of the then-outstanding balance of the Company’s customer receivables
(as defined in the Master Credit Facility). During the three months ended September 30, 2016, the Company received additional advances
in the aggregate amount of $370,050. With the discretionary approval of White Winston, as of September 30, 2016, the Company had
drawn approximately $791,000 more than its availability under the Master Credit Facility. The Company could also request, subject to
White Winston’s discretionary approval, additional advances that would be exempt from the limitation of eligible receivables. The Master
Credit Facility originally matured on June 30, 2018 and bore interest at a rate of 8.0% per annum. Interest was payable monthly in arrears.
In addition, from and after the first anniversary of the date of the Master Credit Facility and continuing until the Master Credit Facility was
repaid in full, the Company was required to pay an additional fee of 3.0% on the average daily unborrowed portion of the Master Credit
Facility. The fee was payable quarterly in arrears. As more fully discussed in Note 14, on November 7, 2016, in connection with the
closing of the Share Issuance, the Company repaid in full all amounts owing under the Mater Credit Facility and terminated the Master
Credit Facility and the related Board Representation Agreement.

 
The Company granted White Winston a first priority lien in all tangible and intangible property now owned by the Company or to be
acquired in the future, including all receivables and all of the outstanding ownership interests in each of the Company’s subsidiaries. In
addition, the Company established a cash collateral account, pursuant to which all revenues and payments due to the Company were
deposited into such account and acted as security for the Master Credit Facility. The Company had unrestricted access to the cash collateral
account.
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Master Credit Facility, on June 30, 2016, the Company issued to White Winston warrants to purchase up to (i)
125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $2.00 per share (the “Fixed $2.00 Warrant”); (ii) 218,750 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a price of $2.00 per share (the “Pro Rata Warrant”), provided that the number of shares for which the Pro
Rata Warrants were exercisable would be pro-rata based on the ratio of the actual advances made under the Master Credit Facility to the
aggregate face amount of the Master Credit Facility and (iii) 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $20.00 per share
(the “Fixed $20.00 Warrant”). The Fixed $2.00 Warrant and the Pro Rata Warrant are exercisable for five years from the date of issuance
and the Fixed $20.00 Warrant is exercisable for five years beginning on December 30, 2016.
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Pursuant to the terms of a Board Representation Agreement between the Company and White Winston, White Winston had the right to
designate nominees for election to the Company’s Board of Directors from the date the principal amount outstanding under the Master
Credit Facility first exceeded $2,000,000 until such time as White Winston’s interest (as defined in the Board Representation Agreement)
fell below five percent for 60 consecutive days. The number of nominees that White Winston was entitled to designate was determined in
accordance with the terms of the Board Representation Agreement and, provided that no event of default had occurred, could not exceed
two nominees. If an event of default had occurred and was continuing, White Winston had the right to designate two additional nominees
for election to the Company’s Board of Directors. However, the aggregate number of nominees that White Winston was entitled to
designate in no event could exceed (i) 50 percent of the number of directors, rounded down to the nearest whole number, if the Board is
comprised of an odd number of Directors, and (ii) one less than half of the number of Directors, if the Board is comprised of an even
number of Directors.

The Company determined the fair value of the Fixed $2.00 Warrant and Fixed $20.00 Warrant issued to White Winston to be $272,133
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: (1) expected volatility of 54.63%, (2) risk-free interest rate
of 1.01% and (3) expected life of five years.

The Company determined that the Pro Rata Warrant should be treated as a derivative liability in accordance with ASC 815-40, “Derivatives
and Hedging, Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity,” due to the variable number of shares issuable. Accordingly, the Pro Rata Warrant was
initially recorded at fair value, with changes in the fair value of the liability recorded in other income/expense in the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company determined the fair value of the Pro Rata Warrant
issued to White Winston on June 30, 2016 to be $511,325, of which $380,000 was valued as the portion attributable to the unexercisable
Pro Rata Warrant using the Monte Carlo model with the following assumptions: (1) expected volatility of 100.00%, (2) risk-free interest
rate of 1.01% and (3) expected life of five years. The Company recorded a $401,000 change in the fair value of the liability during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2016 (see Note 12).

The Company recorded the value of $131,325 attributable to the 68,800 exercisable Pro Rata Warrants at June 30, 2016 as a component of
additional paid in capital in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

On August 10, 2016, the Company entered into an Amendment to Master Credit Facility and Consent and Waiver Agreement (the
“Amendment”) with White Winston in connection with the CFL Transaction (see Note 8). Pursuant to the Amendment, White Winston
consented to the CFL Transaction and waived its participation rights and board representation rights under the Board Representation
Agreement in connection with the CFL Transaction. In consideration for the Amendment, the Company agreed that the Pro Rata Warrant
would be fully exercisable, notwithstanding the pro rata formula set forth in the warrant, and paid a fee of $15,000. In addition, White
Winston granted the Company an option to repurchase its outstanding, in-the-money warrants following consummation of the Tender Offer
on the terms set forth in the Amendment.

As a result of the Amendment, all 218,750 Pro Rata Warrants became exercisable and the derivative liability in the amount of $781,000
pertaining to the Pro Rata Warrants was reclassified to additional paid in capital (see Note 12).

The issuance of the Fixed $2.00 Warrant, the Fixed $20.00 Warrant and the Pro Rata Warrant has been treated as a debt issue cost and,
accordingly, has been recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of Master Credit Facility and is being amortized to interest
expense over the contractual term of the Master Credit Facility. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, accretion of
the costs amounted to $97,933.

The Company incurred cash fees associated with the closing of the Master Credit Facility of $488,082. These amounts have been treated as
a debt issue cost and, accordingly, have been recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of Master Credit Facility and are
being amortized to interest expense over the contractual term of the Master Credit Facility. During the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, accretion of the fees amounted to $58,661.

Contractual interest expense on the Master Credit Facility amounted to $35,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016.
 
On November 7, 2016, in connection with the closing of the CFL Transaction described below, the Company (i) repaid in full amounts
owed under the Master Credit Facility and (ii) terminated the Master Credit Facility and related agreements between the Company and
White Winston, including the Board Representation Agreement. All security interest created under the Master Credit Facility were
released upon repayment of the amounts due under and the termination of the Master Credit Facility.
 
The Fixed $20.00 Warrant issued to White Winston is still held by White Winston and remains outstanding. On November 7, 2016, White
Winston exercised the Fixed $2.00 Warrant and the Pro Rata Warrant to purchase an aggregate of 343,750 shares of common stock.
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7. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Lease Obligations – The Company leases office space, a corporate apartment, office furniture and equipment under various operating
lease agreements.
 
The Company leases an office for its headquarters in Illinois, as well as office spaces for its events business, sales and administrative
offices under non-cancelable lease arrangements that provide for payments on a graduated basis with various expiration dates.

Rent expense, amounting to approximately $258,000 and $383,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, and approximately $808,000 and $1,083,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, is
included in general and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Included in rent
expense is sublease income of approximately $93,000 and $90,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, and approximately $279,000 and $255,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recorded a gain on lease cancellation of approximately $424,000
related to the closing of its Los Angeles, CA office in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Legal Proceedings

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to an action captioned LinkedIn Corp. v. NAPW, Inc. and
Professional Diversity Network, Inc., No. 16-CV-299784 (Santa Clara Superior Ct.). The complaint was filed on September 12, 2016.
LinkedIn Corp. (“LinkedIn”), the plaintiff, seeks payment of outstanding amounts it claims are owed under a marketing agreement
between LinkedIn and NAPW. The Company has prepared but has not yet filed a counterclaim. LinkedIn has agreed to postpone the
deadline for the Company to file a responsive pleading to January 5, 2017. The parties have also agreed to mediate their respective
claims, with a mediation currently scheduled for December 20, 2016. The case is in its preliminary stages and it is uncertain whether or
not its outcome is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to litigation captioned Gauri Ramnath, et al. v. Professional
Diversity Network, Inc., et al., No. BC604153 (Los Angeles Superior Ct.), a putative class action alleging violations of various
California Labor Code (wage & hour) sections. The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. The complaint was filed in December 2015 and
the Company has answered. On April 28, 2016, the parties entered into a mutual settlement agreement and release, on behalf of all
putative class participants, in the amount of $500,000. Such amount is recorded in accrued expenses in the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2016. The parties’ agreement and its amount are subject to Court and state agency
approval. The Company has been notified that the Court will hold a hearing to consider final approval on November 28, 2016. The
Company anticipates that, if the global settlement is approved, it will have to fund the settlement in late Fourth Quarter of 2016 or early
First Quarter of 2017.
 
The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to an administrative action before the National Labor Relations
Board captioned as In re Professional Diversity Network, Cases 31-CA-159810 and 31-CA-162904 (NLRB), alleging violations of the
National Labor Relations Act, where employee was allegedly terminated for asserting “union organizing” rights. While the Company
disputes that any rights were impacted, the NLRB has issued its preliminary order requiring the Company to take certain remedial
actions in the form of posting notices and revising certain policies. The Company is currently working with the agency to comply with
the NLRB order. The Company does not anticipate that its outcome will have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.
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The Company is a party to an administrative action before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission captioned as Paul Sutcliffe
v. Professional Diversity Network, Inc., No. 533-2016-00033 (EEOC), alleging violations of Title VII and the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, where employee was allegedly terminated due to his race (Caucasian) and his age (over 40). The EEOC has issued a
preliminary finding that the Company discriminated against the complainant. The Company is currently weighing its appellate options,
but does not anticipate that this case will have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.

On November 4, 2016, the Company entered into a Confidential Settlement and Mutual Release of All Claims (the “Release”) with
Matthew B. Proman (“Proman”), pursuant to which the Company agreed among other things that (i) it would pay Proman $300,000 at
the closing of the Share Issuance, (ii) the Separation Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims, dated July 16, 2015 between Proman
and the Company (the “Separation Agreement”) would be terminated as of November 4, 2016, and (iii) the Seller Promissory Note in
the principal amount of $445,000 dated September 24, 2014 in favor of Proman (the “Promissory Note”) would be terminated as of
November 4, 2016.  The Company also agreed that notwithstanding the termination of the Separation Agreement pursuant to the
Release, Proman’s co-sale right would be preserved and he would continue to hold the options and warrants he held as of November 4,
2016.  On November 7, 2016, the Company paid Proman $300,000 pursuant to the Release.

General Legal Matters
 

From time to time, the Company is involved in legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. While the Company believes that
such matters are currently not material, there can be no assurance that matters arising in the ordinary course of business for which the
Company is, or could be, involved in litigation, will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of
operations.

8. CFL Transaction

On August 12, 2016, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), with Cosmic Forward
Limited, a Republic of Seychelles company wholly-owned by a group of Chinese investors (“CFL”). Pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, the Company agreed to issue and sell to CFL (the “Share Issuance and Sale”), and CFL agreed to purchase, at a price of
$9.60 per share (the “Per Share Price”), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, a number of
shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”), such that CFL will hold shares of Common
Stock equal to approximately 51% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, determined on a fully-diluted basis, after giving effect to
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, including the Tender Offer described below (the “CFL
Transaction”).
 
Pursuant to a co-sale right, an existing shareholder of the Company would have the right to sell up to 205,925 shares of Common Stock
to CFL as of the date of the Purchase Agreement (the “Co-Sale Right”), and such Co-Sale Right, to the extent exercised, would reduce
the number of shares of Common Stock to be purchased by CFL directly from the Company. The Company also commenced a partial
issuer tender offer to purchase up to 312,500 shares of Common Stock (the “Tender Offer”). The number of shares of Common Stock
that CFL agreed to purchase was that amount that would allow it to hold 51% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, determined
on a fully-diluted basis, after giving effect to the number of shares of Common Stock (if any) the Company purchases in the Tender
Offer, and any shares sold to CFL pursuant to the co-sale right (collectively, the “Common Shares”). The parties agreed that, if,
immediately following the consummation of the Tender Offer and after giving effect to the purchase by the Company of all shares of
Common Stock validly tendered and not withdrawn in the Tender Offer, the Common Shares amount to less than 51% of the then-
outstanding shares of Common Stock, determined on a fully-diluted basis, then CFL shall have an option (the “Call Option”) to
purchase, at a price per share equal to the Per Share Price, such additional number of shares of Common Stock (the “Call Option
Shares”) as are necessary for the previously issued Common Shares plus the Call Option Shares to equal 51% of the then-outstanding
shares of Common Stock determined on a fully-diluted basis, taking into account the issuance of the Call Option Shares.
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, dated as of August 12, 2016 (the “Escrow Agreement”), by and among the Company,
CFL and Wilmington Trust, N.A., as escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”), CFL deposited approximately $1.7 million (the “Escrow
Amount”) into an escrow account with the Escrow Agent as security for CFL’s potential termination fee obligations under the Purchase
Agreement described below. The Escrow Amount was being held by the Escrow Agent in accordance with, and was released pursuant to
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in, the Escrow Agreement.
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The Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the parties thereto, and
completion of the Share Issuance and Sale was subject to the approval of the Company’s stockholders at a special meeting of
stockholders. The Purchase Agreement also contained other customary closing conditions, including, among others, the execution of
certain ancillary agreements and documentation; all receipt of all required consents and approvals necessary to consummate the Share
Issuance and Sale; the absence of any injunction or proceeding by a government entity seeking to restrain or prohibit consummation of
the CFL Transaction; the absence of any change or event that has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect
on the Company; and receipt of a clearance by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States.
 
The Purchase Agreement also contained customary indemnification and termination provisions.
 
Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement and as a condition to consummating the Share Issuance and Sale, at the closing of the Share
Issuance and Sale, the Company, CFL and each of the shareholders of CFL (the “CFL Shareholders”) agreed to enter into a
stockholders’ agreement (“Stockholders’ Agreement”).  The Stockholders’ Agreement provides certain limitations on the ability of CFL
and the CFL Shareholders to acquire additional securities from the Company, and provides for certain participation rights to CFL, to
enable CFL to participate in future equity issuances by the Company, in order to maintain its then-current beneficial ownership interest
in the Company, up to the CFL Shareholders’ then-current ownership percentage based on the number of shares of Common Stock then-
outstanding, but no greater than 51.0% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, determined on a fully-diluted basis, on a given date.
The Stockholders’ Agreement also provides for certain “standstill” covenants prohibiting CFL or the CFL Shareholders or their
respective affiliates from taking certain actions with respect to the Company or the Board of Directors. Under the Stockholders’
Agreement, CFL is entitled to nominate individuals reasonably acceptable to the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board
of Directors for election as directors of the Company, so long as CFL’s beneficial ownership level exceeds certain predefined percentage
thresholds of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Stock. The Stockholders’ Agreement provides that, upon the closing of
the Share Issuance and Sale and for so long as CFL’s beneficial ownership level exceeds 49.5% of the Company’s issued and
outstanding Common Stock, CFL is entitled to nominate five of nine directors on the Board of Directors. The Stockholders’ Agreement
further provides certain restrictions on the transfer of the Common Shares issued and sold to CFL in the Share Issuance and Sale,
including, among other restrictions, a lock-up during the one-year period following the closing of the Share Issuance and Sale. The
Stockholders’ Agreement also provides certain demand, shelf and piggyback registration rights to CFL that require the Company to
effect the registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), of the resale of the Common Shares and other
shares of Common Stock (including the Call Option Shares) acquired by CFL.

As described in Note 14, on November 7, 2016, the CFL Transaction closed.

9. Employment Agreement

On September 30, 2016, the Company entered into an employment agreement (the “Employment Agreement”) with Katherine
Butkevich, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Employment Agreement provides for an initial term of two years, and is subject
to extension upon agreement of the Company and Ms. Butkevich unless either party provides advance written notice of its or her
intention not to extend. Under the Employment Agreement, Ms. Butkevich will receive an annual base salary of $300,000, subject to
increase, but not decrease, in the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or the Compensation Committee of
the Board (the “Compensation Committee”). Ms. Butkevich will be eligible to receive an annual incentive bonus, at a target amount of
not less than her base salary, based upon the achievement of one or more performance goals, targets, measurements and other factors,
established for such year by the Compensation Committee. Ms. Butkevich will also participate in all benefit plans and programs, subject
to certain conditions and exceptions, as are generally provided by the Company to its other senior executive employees.
 
Under the terms of Employment Agreement, Ms. Butkevich is subject to non-solicitation, non-competition and non-interference
restrictive covenants during her employment and for the 12-month period following her last day of employment with the Company. The
Employment Agreement also contains customary confidentiality, work product and return of Company property covenants.
 
In addition, Ms. Butkevich is entitled to severance pay if she is terminated without “cause” or resigns for “good reason,” each as defined
in the Employment Agreement. Upon such termination, provided that she executes a release and waiver agreement, Ms. Butkevich will
be entitled to receive an amount equal to the sum of her base salary, any earned but unpaid bonus for the year prior to the year of
termination, and the pro rata portion of any bonus earned for the year in which termination occurs, as well as continuation of applicable
benefits for a period of 12 months following her termination.
 
In connection with the approval of the Employment Agreement, Ms. Butkevich also received a non-qualified stock option to purchase
57,500 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $8.19 per share. The option will vest in accordance with the
following schedule: (i) 1/3 of the shares underlying the option will vest immediately upon award, (ii) 1/3 of the shares underlying the
option will vest on March 31, 2017, and (iii) 1/3 of the shares underlying the option will vest on March 31, 2018.
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10. Income Taxes
The effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was 32.9% and (10.3)%, respectively, resulting
in a $624,000 income tax benefit and $2,976,000 income tax expense, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the nine months
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was 25.7% and (4.6)%, respectively, resulting in a $1,218,000 income tax benefit and $1,509,000
income tax expense, respectively. During the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded a valuation
allowance of $458,000 and $4,106,000, respectively, and during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company
recorded a valuation allowance of $832,000 and $4,106,000, respectively. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in
which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considered the scheduled reversal of deferred income tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on the consideration of these
items, management determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the deferred income tax asset balances
and therefore, initially recorded a valuation allowance as of September 30, 2015. Management has again evaluated the deferred tax
asset for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and has determined a full valuation allowance continues to be applicable.
    
11. Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans – The Company adopted the 2013 Equity Compensation Plan under which the Company reserved 62,500 shares
of common stock for the purpose of providing equity incentives to employees, officers, directors and consultants including options,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, other equity awards, annual incentive awards and dividend equivalents.
The Company subsequently amended the plan to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock under the plan to 225,000
shares, which the Company’s stockholders approved on June 3, 2015.
  
Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:
 

  
Number of

Options   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Outstanding - December 31, 2015   19,653  $ 30.00   8.0  $ - 

Granted   57,500   8.19         
Exercised   -    -          
Forfeited/Canceled/Expired   (4,287)   (31.81)         

Outstanding – September 30, 2016   72,866  $ 12.69   9.5  $ - 
                 
Exercisable – September 30, 2016   30,264  $ 16.29   9.2  $ - 
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A summary of the changes in the Company’s unvested stock options is as follows: 

  
Number of

Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant
Date Fair

Value  
Unvested - December 31, 2015   13,571  $ 13.76 

Granted   57,500   4.01 
Vested   (27,552)   (7.07)
Forfeited/Canceled/Expired   (917)   (13.83)

Unvested – September 30, 2016   42,602  $ 4.93 

As discussed in Note 9, the Company granted 57,500 stock options to Ms. Butkevich in connection with her Employment Agreement.
These options had a fair value of $230,575, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate   1.14%
Expected dividend yield   0.00%
Expected volatility   53.96%
Expected term  5.5 years

 
The options are exercisable at an exercise price of $8.19 per share over a ten-year term and vest over three years. The Company recorded
$77,000 as compensation expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 pertaining to this grant.

The Company recorded non-cash compensation expense of approximately $90,000 and $31,000 for the three months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and approximately $135,000 and $74,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, pertaining to stock options.

Total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options at September 30, 2016 amounts to approximately $182,000
and is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted average period of 1.4 years.
 
Warrants

The following table summarizes the Company’s warrant activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:
 

  
Number of
Warrants   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in Years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Outstanding – December 31, 2015   45,314  $ 66.72   3.5  $ - 

Granted   468,750   6.80         
Exercised   -    -          
Forfeited/Canceled/Expired   -    -          

Outstanding – September 30, 2016   514,064  $ 12.09   4.7  $ 2,127,813 
                 
Exercisable – September 30, 2016   389,064  $ 9.54   4.5  $ 2,127,813 
 
As discussed in Note 6, on June 30, 2016, the Company granted warrants to purchase 468,750 shares of common stock. The fair value of
the warrants issued of $783,458 has been recorded as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of Master Credit Facility.
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A summary of the changes in the Company’s unvested warrants is as follows: 

  
Number of
Warrants   

Weighted
Average

Grant
Date Fair

Value  
Unvested – December 31, 2015   -   $ - 

Granted   468,750   1.67 
Vested   (468,750)   (1.67)
Forfeited/Canceled/Expired   -    -  

Unvested – September 30, 2016   -   $ - 

On November 7, 2016, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 343,750 shares of common stock were exercised for an aggregate exercise
price of $687,500.

Restricted Stock

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were 5,556 shares of unvested restricted stock outstanding.

The Company recorded non-cash compensation expense of approximately $28,000 and $83,000 for the three months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and approximately $83,000 and $277,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, pertaining to restricted stock. 
     
Total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock at September 30, 2016 amounts to approximately
$129,000 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years.
   
12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are carried
at historical cost. Management believes that the recorded amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these
instruments.

The Company measures the fair value of financial assets and liabilities based on the exchange price that would be received for an asset
or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The Company uses three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable
Level 3 — inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)

 
Level 3 liabilities are valued using unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair
value of the derivative liabilities. For fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the Company’s
accounting and finance department, who report to the Chief Financial Officer, determine its valuation policies and procedures. The
development and determination of the unobservable inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements and fair value calculations are the
responsibility of the Company’s accounting and finance department and are approved by the Chief Financial Officer.
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Level 3 Valuation Techniques:

Level 3 financial liabilities consist of warrant liabilities for which there is no current market for these securities such that the
determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation. Changes in fair value measurements categorized within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy are analyzed each period based on changes in estimates or assumptions and recorded as appropriate.

The Company uses the Monte Carlo model to value Level 3 financial liabilities at inception and on subsequent valuation dates. This
model is a discrete-time model that allows for sources of uncertainty and simulates the movements of the underlying asset and calculates
the resulting derivative value for each trial. Such simulations are performed for a number of trials and the average value across all trials
is determined in order to arrive at the concluded value of such derivative. The model incorporates transaction details such as the
Company’s stock price, contractual terms, maturity, and risk free rates, as well as volatility. A significant decrease in the volatility or a
significant decrease in the Company’s stock price, in isolation, would result in a significantly lower fair value measurement. Changes in
the values of the derivative liabilities are recorded in “change in fair value of warrant liability” in the Company’s condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, there were no transfers in or out of Level 3 from other levels in the fair value
hierarchy.

The warrant liability was valued using the Monte Carlo model and the following assumptions:
  

  August 10,   June 30,  
  2016   2016  
Strike price  $ 2.00  $ 2.00 
Market price  $ 6.08  $ 3.20 
Expected life  5 years  5 years 
Risk-free interest rate   1.07%  1.01%
Dividend yield   0.00%  0.00%
Volatility   100%  100%

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Level 3 financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis:

Balance – January 1, 2016  $ - 
Initial value of derivative liability   380,000 
Change in fair value of derivative liability   401,000 
Reclassification of derivative liability to additional paid in capital   (781,000)
Balance – September 30, 2016  $ - 

As discussed in Note 6, on August 10, 2016, the Company entered into an Amendment with White Winston pursuant to which the
Company agreed that the Pro Rata Warrant would be fully exercisable, notwithstanding the pro rata formula set forth in the warrant.
Accordingly, as the derivative liability was eliminated on August 10, 2016, the Company reclassified $781,000 to additional paid in
capital. 
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13. Segment Information

The Company operates in three segments: (i) PDN Network, (2) NAPW Network and (3) Noble Voice operations, which are based on its
business activities and organization. The following tables present key financial information of the Company’s reportable segments as of
and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:
 
  Three Months Ended September 30, 2016  

  
PDN 

Network   
NAPW

Network   Noble Voice   Consolidated 
             
Membership fees and related services  $ -  $ 3,748,334  $ -  $ 3,748,334 
Lead generation   -    -    1,554,370   1,554,370 
Recruitment services   954,887   -    -    954,887 
Products sales and other   -    52,857   -    52,857 
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   49,719   -    -    49,719 

Total revenues   1,004,606   3,801,191   1,554,370   6,360,167 
Loss from operations   (118,948)   (894,361)   (266,893)   (1,280,202)
Depreciation and amortization   33,471   738,473   47,950   819,894 
Income tax expense (benefit)   (222,808)   (289,767)   (111,124)   (623,699)
Capital expenditures   -    -    -    -  
Net loss   (512,771)   (604,594)   (155,769)   (1,273,134)

  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016  

  
PDN 

Network   
NAPW

Network   Noble Voice   Consolidated 
             
Membership fees and related services  $ -  $ 13,047,652  $ -  $ 13,047,652 
Lead generation   -    -    4,489,919   4,489,919 
Recruitment services   2,295,556   -    -    2,295,556 
Products sales and other   -    544,440   -    544,440 
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   176,771   -    -    176,771 

Total revenues   2,472,327   13,592,092   4,489,919   20,554,338 
Loss from operations   (839,840)   (2,173,251)   (1,106,895)   (4,119,986)
Depreciation and amortization   130,121   2,207,703   160,312   2,498,136 
Income benefit   (373,717)   (557,439)   (286,936)   (1,218,092)
Capital expenditures   -    -    -    -  
Net loss   (1,083,270)   (1,615,812)   (819,959)   (3,519,041)
 
  At September 30, 2016  
Goodwill  $ 339,451  $ 19,861,739  $ -  $ 20,201,190 
Intangible assets, net   90,400   9,482,806   327,333   9,900,539 
Total assets   2,151,870   32,410,397   1,891,617   36,453,884 
   
  Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 (Revised)  

  
PDN

Network   
NAPW

Network   Noble Voice   Consolidated 
             
Membership fees and related services  $ -  $ 5,652,873  $ -  $ 5,652,873 
Lead generation   -    -    2,334,276   2,334,276 
Recruitment services   830,250   -    -    830,250 
Products sales and other   -    330,769   -    330,769 
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   73,011   -    -    73,011 

Total revenues   903,261   5,983,642   2,334,276   9,221,179 
Loss from operations   (491,126)   (27,995,556)   (339,150)   (28,825,832)
Depreciation and amortization   93,922   786,148   45,614   925,684 
Income tax benefit   2,362,220   543,018   70,979   2,976,217 
Capital expenditures   -    -    -    -  
Net loss   (2,857,969)   (28,538,574)   (410,129)   (31,806,672)
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  Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 (Revised)  

  
PDN

Network   
NAPW

Network   Noble Voice   Consolidated 
             
Membership fees and related services  $ -  $ 18,885,308  $ -  $ 18,885,308 
Lead generation   -    -    7,853,402   7,853,402 
Recruitment services   2,432,951   -    -    2,432,951 
Products sales and other   -    631,198   -    631,198 
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   209,097   -    -    209,097 
Total revenues   2,642,048   19,516,506   7,853,402   30,011,956 
Loss from operations   (1,727,721)   (30,417,806)   (818,410)   (32,963,937)
Depreciation and amortization   285,677   2,308,361   136,842   2,730,880 
Income tax expense (benefit)   1,895,588   (271,103)   (115,090)   1,509,395 
Capital expenditures   -    50,216   13,938   64,154 
Net loss   (3,588,298)   (30,146,703)   (703,320)   (34,438,321)

  At December 31, 2015  
Goodwill  $ 339,451  $ 19,861,739  $ -  $ 20,201,190 
Intangible assets, net   90,400   11,502,106   459,333   12,051,839 
Total assets   4,167,229   34,985,831   2,274,756   41,427,816 

14. Subsequent Events
 
The Company evaluates subsequent events and transactions that occur after the balance sheet date up to the date that the condensed
consolidated financial statements were issued for potential recognition or disclosure.
 
Settlement with Matthew Proman
 
On November 4, 2016, the Company entered into the Release with Matthew Proman (see Note 7).
 
Exercise of Pro Rata and Fixed $2.00 Warrant

On November 4, 2016, White Winston exercised the Pro Rata Warrant and the Fixed $2.00 Warrant, such that the Company issued to
White Winston an aggregate of 343,750 shares of the Company’s common stock for aggregate proceeds of $687,500. The Company
used these proceeds to pay down a portion of the outstanding Master Credit Facility.

Payoff and Termination of Master Credit Facility

On November 7, 2016, in connection with the closing of the CFL Transaction described below, the Company (i) repaid in full amounts
owed under the Master Credit Facility and (ii) terminated the Master Credit Facility and related agreements between the Company and
White Winston, including the Board Representation Agreement. All security interest created under the Master Credit Facility were
released upon repayment of the amounts due under and the termination of the Master Credit Facility.
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CFL Share Issuance and Completion of the Tender Offer

On November 7, 2016, the Company consummated the issuance and sale of 1,777,417 shares of its common stock to CFL at a price of
$9.60 per share, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, dated August 12, 2016. In addition, on November 7, 2016, the
Company completed the purchase of 312,500 shares of its common stock at a price of $9.60 per share, net to the seller in cash, pursuant
to the Tender Offer. The Company received approximately $9,000,000 in net proceeds from the Share Issuance, after the payment for
the shares repurchased in the Tender Offer, the repayment of all amounts outstanding under the Master Credit Facility and the payment
of transaction-related expenses.

At the closing of the CFL Transaction, the Company entered into a Stockholders’ Agreement, dated November 7, 2016 (the
“Stockholders’ Agreement”) with CFL and each of its shareholders: Maoji (Michael) Wang, Jingbo Song, Yong Xiong Zheng and Nan
Nan Kou (the “CFL Shareholders”). The Stockholders’ Agreement sets forth the agreement of the Company, CFL and the CFL
Shareholders relating to board representation rights, transfer restrictions, standstill provisions, voting, registration rights and other
matters following the closing of the Share Issuance.

23



     
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS
 

Unless we specify otherwise, all references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “ Quarterly Report”) to the
“Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Professional Diversity Network, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.  The following
discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes thereto in Item 1, “Financial Statements,” in Part I of this Quarterly Report.  This discussion
contains forward-looking statements, which are based on our assumptions about the future of our business.  Our actual results will
likely differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements.  Please read “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements” for additional information regarding forward-looking statements used in this Quarterly Report.
 
Overview
 

We are a dynamic operator of professional networks with a focus on diversity.  We use the term “diversity” (or “diverse”) to
describe communities, or “affinities,” that are distinct based on a wide array of criteria, including ethnic, national, cultural, racial,
religious or gender classification.  We serve a variety of such communities, including Women, Hispanic-Americans, African-Americans,
Asian-Americans, Disabled, Military Professionals, and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT).  Our value proposition is
three-fold:  (i) we provide a robust online and in-person network for our women members to make professional and personal connections
(with the ability to roll out to our other affinities); (ii) we assist our registered users, or members, in their efforts to connect with like-
minded individuals and identify career opportunities within the network and (iii) we help employers address their workforce diversity
needs by connecting them with the right candidates.  We operate in three business segments:  (i) Professional Diversity Network (“ PDN
Network”), which includes online professional networking communities with career resources tailored to the needs of various diverse
cultural groups and employers looking to hire members of such groups, (ii) National Association of Professional Women (“ NAPW
Network”), a women-only professional networking organization, and (iii) Noble Voice operations (“ Noble Voice”), a career
consultation and lead generation service.  Through the third quarter of 2016, our PDN Network, NAPW Network and Noble Voice
businesses represented 12.0%, 66.1% and 21.9% of our revenues, respectively.  As of September 30, 2016, we had approximately 9.0
million registered users in our PDN Network; approximately 880,000 registered users, or members, in the NAPW Network; and over 580
companies utilizing our products and services in our combined PDN Network and Noble Voice operations.  We believe that the
combination of our solutions allows us to approach recruiting and professional networking in a unique way and thus create enhanced
value for our members and customers.
 
Sources of Revenue
 

We generate revenue from (i) paid membership subscriptions and related services, (ii) lead generation, (iii) recruitment
services, (iv) product sales and (v) consumer advertising and consumer marketing solutions.  The following table sets forth our revenues
from each product as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented.  The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not
necessarily indicative of future results.
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2016   2015   2016   2015  
Percentage of revenue by product:             
Membership fees and related services   58.9%   61.3%  63.5%   62.9%
Lead generation   24.4%   25.3%  21.8%   26.2%
Recruitment services   15.0%   9.0%  11.2%   8.1%
Products sales and other   0.8%   3.6%  2.6%   2.1%
Consumer advertising and consumer marketing solutions   0.8%   0.8%  0.9%   0.7%

Paid Membership Subscriptions and Related Services.  We offer paid membership subscriptions through our NAPW Network, a
women-only professional networking organization, operated by our wholly-owned subsidiary.  Members gain access to networking
opportunities through a members-only website at www.napw.com, as well as through in-person networking at nearly 200 local chapters
nationwide, additional career and networking events such as the National Networking Summit Series and the PDN Network events, as
well as ancillary (non-networking) benefits such as educational discounts, shopping, and other membership perks.  Upgraded packages
include (i) the VIP membership, which provides members with additional promotional and publicity tools as well as free access
(including guest) to the National Networking Summits and free continuing education programs and (ii) the press release package, which
provides members with the opportunity to work with professional writers to publish personalized press releases and thereby secure
valuable online presence.  Membership is renewable and fees are payable on an annual basis, with the first annual fee payable at the
commencement of the membership.  Membership subscriptions represented approximately 98.6% and 94.5%, respectively, of revenue
attributable to the NAPW Network business segment for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and 96.0% and 96.8%,
respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.
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Lead Generation.  We monetize our career consultations conducted by our Noble Voice division by generating and selling

value-added leads to our strategic partners who provide continuing education and career services.  We also generate revenue from sales
of data not used in the lead generation process.  Lead generation sales represented 100% of the revenue attributable to the Noble Voice
business segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.
 

Recruitment Services.  We provide recruitment services through PDN Network to medium and large employers seeking to
diversify their employment ranks.  Our recruitment services include recruitment advertising, job postings, semantic search technology
and paid access to, and placement in, or advertising around our career and networking events.  The majority of recruitment services
revenue comes from job recruitment advertising.  We also offer to businesses subject to the regulations and requirements of the Equal
Employment Opportunity Office of Federal Contract Compliance Program (“OFCCP”) our OFCCP compliance product, which
combines diversity recruitment advertising with job postings and compliance services.  For the three months ended September 30, 2016
and 2015, recruitment advertising revenue constituted approximately 95.0% and 91.9%, respectively, of the revenue attributable to the
PDN Network business segment.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, recruitment services revenue constituted
approximately 92.8% and 92.1%, respectively, of the revenue attributable to the PDN Network business segment.
 

Product Sales.  We offer to new purchasers of our NAPW Network memberships the opportunity to purchase up to two
commemorative wall plaques at the time of membership purchase.  Product sales represented approximately 1.4% and 5.5%,
respectively, of revenue attributable to the NAPW Network business segment for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
and 4.0% and 3.2%, respectively, of revenue attributable to the NAPW Network business segment for the nine months ended September
30, 2016 and 2015.
 

Consumer Advertising and Consumer Marketing Solutions.  We work with partner organizations to provide them with
integrated job boards on their websites which offer their members or customers to post recruitment advertising and job openings.  We
generate revenue from fees charged for those postings.  For the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, consumer advertising
and marketing represented approximately 5.0% and 8.1%, respectively, of the revenue attributable to the PDN Network business
segment.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, consumer advertising and marketing represented approximately
7.2% and 7.9%, respectively, of the revenue attributable to the PDN Network business segment.
 
Cost of Revenue
 

Cost of revenue primarily consists of data and related costs to generate leads for our Noble Voice customers, costs of producing
job fair and other events, revenue sharing with partner organizations, and costs of web hosting and operating our websites for the PDN
Network.  Costs of producing wall plaques, hosting member conferences and local chapter meetings are also included in the cost of
revenue for NAPW Network.
 
Financial Overview
 

During the quarter and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we experienced losses as we continued our efforts to reduce
costs and streamline our business. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we realized a net loss of approximately $3,519,000, a
$30,919,000, or 89.8%, decrease from the comparable prior year period. This decrease in the net loss is primarily related to a charge
taken for the impairment of goodwill at the NAPW Network taken on September 30, 2015 for $26,744,000. As discussed below,
management determined that additional impairment charges are not appropriate for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. In
addition, our net losses were further reduced by our efforts to reduce operating expenses, partially offset by the decline in revenue. Costs
of revenue declined 47.6% during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 on a year-over-year basis due to significant reductions in
expenditures and improved buying efficiencies of data used in generating leads for our Noble Voice division. Sales and marketing
expenses in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 declined approximately 40%, from the comparable prior year period, primarily
as a result of our efforts to reduce marketing costs related to lead generation at the NAPW Network, in an effort to optimize operating
margins, combined with significant reductions of sales staff at both the NAPW Network and Noble Voice division on a year-over-year
basis. General and administrative expenses in the nine months ended September 30, 2016 declined 18.7% reflecting the impact of our
cost containment initiatives, combined with the reversal of sub-lease liability accrual recorded in the fourth quarter of 2015 related to the
closing of the Company’s Los Angeles location.
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On September 27, 2016, we effected a reverse stock split of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common

Stock”), at a ratio of 1-for-8 (the “Reverse Split”).  As a result of the Reverse Split, every eight shares of the issued and outstanding
Common Stock were automatically converted into one newly issued and outstanding share of Common Stock, without any change in the
par value per share. Any fractional shares resulting from the Reverse Split were rounded up to the nearest whole share.
 
Recent Events
 

On November 7, 2016, we consummated the issuance and sale of 1,777,417 shares of Common Stock, to Cosmic Forward
Limited, a Republic of Seychelles company wholly-owned by a group of Chinese investors (“CFL”), at a price of $9.60 per share (giving
effect to the Reverse Split), pursuant to the terms of our previously announced stock purchase agreement, dated August 12, 2016 (the
“Purchase Agreement”), with CFL (the “Share Issuance”). At the closing of the Share Issuance, and as contemplated by the Purchase
Agreement, we entered into a Stockholders’ Agreement, dated November 7, 2016 (the “Stockholders’ Agreement”), with CFL and
each of its shareholders.  As previously disclosed, the Stockholders’ Agreement sets forth the agreement of the Company, CFL and the
CFL shareholders relating to board representation rights, transfer restrictions, standstill provisions, voting, registration rights and other
matters following the closing of the Share Issuance.
 

In addition, on November 7, 2016, we completed the purchase of 312,500 shares of Common Stock, at a price of $9.60 per
share, net to the seller in cash, less any applicable withholding taxes and without interest, pursuant to our previously announced partial
issuer tender offer as disclosed in the Company’s Offer to Purchase, dated September 28, 2016, as amended (the “Tender Offer”). As a
result of the completion of the Share Issuance, the Tender Offer and the other transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, as
of November 7, 2016, CFL beneficially owned 51% of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock, on a fully-diluted basis.
 

We received approximately $9.0 million in net proceeds from the Share Issuance, after the payment for the shares repurchased
in the Tender Offer, the repayment of all amounts outstanding under the Master Credit Facility and the payment of transaction-related
expenses at the closing.
 

On November 4, 2016, we entered into a Confidential Settlement and Mutual Release of All Claims (the “Release”) with
Matthew B. Proman (“Proman”), pursuant to which we agreed among other things that (i) the we would pay to Proman $300,000 at the
closing of the Share Issuance, (ii) the Separation Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims, dated July 16, 2015 between Proman and
PDN (the “Separation Agreement”) would be terminated as of November 4, 2016, and (iii) the Seller Promissory Note in the principal
amount of $445,000 dated September 24, 2014 in favor of Proman (the “Promissory Note”) would be terminated as of November 4,
2016.  We have also agreed that notwithstanding the termination of the Separation Agreement pursuant to the Release, Proman’s co-sale
right would be preserved and he would continue to hold the options and warrants he held as of November 4, 2016.  On November 7,
2016, we paid Proman $300,000 pursuant to the Release.
 

On November 7, 2016, in connection with the closing of the Share Issuance, we (i) repaid in full all amounts owed under the
Master Credit Facility among the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries NAPW, Inc., Noble Voice LLC and Compliant Lead LLC,
and White Winston Select Asset Funds, LLC (“White Winston”), dated March 30, 2016 (the “Master Credit Facility”), and (ii)
terminated the Master Credit Facility and related agreements between the Company and White Winston, including the Board
Representation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2016.  All security interests created under the Master Credit Facility were released upon
repayment of the amounts under and termination of the Master Credit Facility.
 
 
Key Metrics
 

We believe that one of the key metrics in evaluating and measuring our performance is the number of registered users or
members.  We define a registered user as an individual job seeker who affirmatively visited one of PDN Network’s properties, opted
into an affinity group and provided us with demographic or contact information enabling us to match him or her with employers and/or
jobs (“PDN Network registered user”).  We define a member as a consumer who has viewed our marketing material, opted into
membership in the NAPW Network, provided demographic information and engaged in an onboarding call with a membership
coordinator (the “NAPW Network member”).  We believe that a higher number of registered users will result in increased sales of our
products and services, as employers will have access to a larger pool of professional talent.  We believe that a higher number of NAPW
Network members will translate into increased revenues through membership subscriptions.
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The following table sets forth the number of registered users on our PDN Network and total membership on our NAPW

Network as of the periods presented:
 

  
As of

September 30,   Change  
  2016   2015   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)     
PDN Network Registered Users (1)   8,951   6,837   30.9%
NAPW Network Total Membership (2)   880   831   5.9%
 

(1) The number of registered users may be higher than the number of actual users due to various factors.  For more information, see
“Risk Factors—The reported number of our registered users is higher than the number of actual individual users, and a substantial
majority of our visits are generated by a minority of our users” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2015, as amended on May 4, 2016 (the” 2015 Annual Report”).

 
(2) Includes both paid and unpaid members.
 

We also track on a quarterly basis as our performance measurement gross bookings of services and products by NAPW
Network and recruitment services and consumer advertising and marketing that we originate through PDN Network’s direct sales force
and online products.  Although direct bookings are non-binding and the revenue derived from such bookings is not recorded in earnings
until all of the revenue recognition criteria are met, we consider direct bookings to be a key performance indicator of where we stand
against our strategic plan.
 

The following table sets forth the booked revenues we originated as of the periods presented:
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,   Change  
  2016   2015   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)     
NAPW Network bookings  $ 2,904  $ 5,224   (44.4%)
PDN Network bookings  $ 778  $ 688   13.1%

Non-GAAP Financial Measure
 
Adjusted EBITDA
 

We believe Adjusted EBITDA provides a meaningful representation of our operating performance that provides useful
information to investors regarding our financial condition and results of operations.  Adjusted EBITDA is commonly used by financial
analysts and others to measure operating performance.  Furthermore, management believes that this non-GAAP financial measure may
provide investors with additional meaningful comparisons between current results and results of prior periods as they are expected to be
reflective of our core ongoing business.  However, while we consider Adjusted EBITDA to be an important measure of operating
performance, Adjusted EBITDA and other non-GAAP financial measures have limitations, and investors should not consider them in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.  Further, Adjusted EBITDA, as we define it, may not be
comparable to EBITDA, or similarly titled measures, as defined by other companies.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure

reported in our consolidated financial statements:
 
(Amount in thousands)       
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,   September 30,  
  2016   2015   2016   2015  
Net loss  $ (1,273)  $ (31,807)  $ (3,519)  $ (34,438)

Impairment expense   -    26,744   -    26,744 
Stock-based compensation expense   118   114   218   351 
Depreciation and amortization   820   926   2,498   2,731 
Litigation settlement   -    -    500   -  
Gain on lease cancellation   -    -    (424)   -  
Change in fair value of warrant

liability   401   (2)   401   (94)
Interest expense   216   9   217   84 
Interest and other income   -    (2)   (1)   (26)
Income tax expense (benefit)   (624)   2,976   (1,218)   1,509 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ (342)  $ (1,042)  $ (1,328)  $ (3,139)

Results of Operations
 
Revenues

Total Revenues
 

The following tables set forth our revenues for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is
not necessarily indicative of future results.
 
  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)          
Revenues             
Membership fees and related services  $ 3,748  $ 5,653  $ (1,905)   (33.7%)
Lead generation   1,554   2,334   (780)   (33.4%)
Recruitment services   955   830   125   15.1%
Products sales and other   53   331   (278)   (84.0%)
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   50   73   (23)   (31.5%)
Total revenues  $ 6,360  $ 9,221  $ (2,861)   (31.0%)
 
  Nine Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)          
Revenues                 
Membership fees and related services  $ 13,048  $ 18,885  $ (5,837)   (30.9%)
Lead generation   4,490   7,853   (3,363)   (42.8%)
Recruitment services   2,295   2,433   (138)   (5.7%)
Products sales and other   544   631   (87)   (13.8%)
Consumer advertising and marketing solutions   177   209   (32)   (15.3%)
Total revenues  $ 20,554  $ 30,011  $ (9,457)   (31.5%)
 

Total revenues decreased $2.9 million, or 31.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same prior
year period, and $9.5 million, or 31.5%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same prior year period, due
primarily to management focus on cost reduction efforts, including the reduction in the salesforce and decreased spending on digital
advertising and data purchases that favorably impacted our margins. Management expects revenues to continue to decrease during the
remaining three months of 2016, with an anticipated slight increase in 2017, mainly with the PDN Network and Noble Voice, and further
increases in all segments in 2018 and 2019.
 

28



 
Revenues by Segment
 

The following table sets forth each operating segment’s revenues for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison is
not necessarily indicative of future results.
 
  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)          
NAPW Network  $ 3,801  $ 5,984  $ (2,183)   (36.5%)
PDN Network   1,005   903   102   11.3%
Noble Voice   1,554   2,334   (780)   (33.4%)
Total revenues  $ 6,360  $ 9,221  $ (2,861)   (31.0%)
 
  Nine Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)           
NAPW Network  $ 13,592  $ 19,516  $ (5,924)   (30.4%)
PDN Network   2,472   2,642   (170)   (6.4%)
Noble Voice   4,490   7,853   (3,363)   (42.8%)
Total revenues  $ 20,554  $ 30,011  $ (9,457)   (31.5%)
 

Membership fees and related services and products sales of $3,801,000 for the three months and $13,592,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2016, attributable to the NAPW Network, represent a reduction of $2,183,000 and $5,924,000,
respectively, from the comparable periods in 2015, or 36.5% and 30.4% respectively. The decrease is primarily the result of reductions
of the NAPW sales staff resulting from the closing of our Los Angeles, CA call center and reductions in workforce at our Garden City,
NY call center. We do not anticipate further reductions and expect to increase the salesforce in future periods. We also expect NAPW
to have decreased revenues for the remainder of 2016 and the year ended December 31, 2017, with anticipated increases in revenues in
2018 and 2019 as a result of increased investments in product salesforce development and will, therefore, be material to the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2016, our PDN Network generated $1,005,000 in revenue, compared to $903,000
for the same period in the prior year, an increase of $102,000, or 11.3%. The increase was mainly attributable to the PDN Recruits
product that was added to our product line in December 2015 which targets a broader audience and shorter sales cycle that can generate
recurring revenue on a monthly basis and resulted in approximately $92,000 in revenue for the quarter. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, our PDN Network generated $2,472,000 in revenue compared to $2,642,000 generated in the prior year period, a
decrease of $170,000 or 6.4%. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we had an increase of $102,000 and a decrease
of $170,000 respectively due to the PDN Recruits revenue previously mentioned and strong activity in the third quarter of 2016 for the
direct sales of our recruitment services. Included in this change was (i) a $37,000 increase and $182,000 period-over-period reduction in
direct sales of our recruitment services, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, which was primarily
attributable to the downsizing of the PDN Network sales team and a strong renewals of contracts in the third quarter of 2016, (ii) a
$5,000 and $171,000 period-over-period decline in the PDN Network Events Division revenue for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, respectively, as a result of a lower number of PDN Network events held in the first nine months of 2016 compared
to the first nine months of 2015 due to scheduling and venue changes, and (iii) a $2,000 increase and $25,000 decrease in our e-
commerce revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, as a result of our focus on new products in
2016. Revenue from the PDN Network’s consumer advertising and marketing solutions declined $23,000 and $32,000, respectively,
compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to changes in relationships with partner organizations.
 

29



 
Noble Voice generated $1,554,000 and $4,490,000 of lead generation revenue for the three months and nine months ended

September 30, 2016, respectively, compared to $2,334,000 and $7,853,000, respectively, for the same periods in 2015, representing a
decrease of 33.4% and 42.8%. The decrease in revenue was the result of continuing compression in the markets served by Noble Voice
and the closure of our Detroit, MI call center in February 2016 and the related reduction in the salesforce. Our efforts are focused on
capturing additional market share through increased sales to our existing customer base and internal efforts to add new customers. Our
Detroit sales efforts were transitioned to a smaller workforce of independent contractors that work from their homes. We have capacity
at our Darien, IL call center to significantly grow our sales team without incurring additional rental costs. We have also added Noble
Voice sales representatives in our Chicago office, without adding additional floor space, in order to attract employees from a larger
geographic territory.

Costs and Expenses
 

The following tables set forth our costs and expenses for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial
results is not necessarily indicative of future results.
 
  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)          
Costs and expenses:                 

Cost of revenues  $ 745  $ 1,464  $ (719)   (49.1%)
Sales and marketing   3,064   5,132   (2,068)   (40.3%)
General and administrative   3,011   3,748   (737)   (19.7%)
Impairment expense   -    26,744   (26,744)   (100.0%)
Depreciation and amortization   820   926   (106)   (11.4%)
Loss on sale of property and equipment   -    33   (33)   (100.0%)

Total costs and expenses  $ 7,640  $ 38,047  $ (30,407)   (79.9%)
 
  Nine Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)          
Costs and expenses:                 

Cost of revenues  $ 2,434  $ 4,647  $ (2,213)   (47.6%)
Sales and marketing   10,314   17,227   (6,913)   (40.1%)
General and administrative   9,428   11,594   (2,166)   (18.7%)
Impairment expense   -    26,744   (26,744)   (100.0%)
Depreciation and amortization   2,498   2,731   (233)   8.5%)
Gain on sale of property and equipment   -    33   (33)   (100.0%)

Total costs and expenses  $ 24,674  $ 62,976  $ (38,303)   (60.8%)
 

Total costs and expenses decreased significantly in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 to $7,640,000 and
$24,674,000, respectively, compared to $38,047,000 and $62,976,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively. This decrease of 79.9% and 60.8%, respectively, is primarily the result of an impairment expense of $26,744,000 taken in
September 2015 that was not necessary for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, combined with management focus on cost
reduction including the closure of operating facilities at NAPW and Noble Voice, reduced spending on digital advertising and direct mail
and reductions in force across all divisions.

Operating Expenses
 

Cost of revenues: Cost of revenues during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 were $745,000 and $2,434,000,
respectively, a decrease of $719,000, or 49.1%, and $2,213,000, or 47.6%, respectively, from $1,464,000 and $4,647,000, respectively,
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015. The decrease was mainly due to (i) a period-over-period reduction of $533,000
and $1,678,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, of expenditures on data to generate call traffic
at our Noble Voice division as a result of reduced volume and increased efficiencies in purchasing data, (ii) a $40,000 and $188,000
decrease in the cost of technology delivery services by PDN Network for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016,
respectively, resulting from the improvements gained by renegotiating vendor contracts and reduced volume of recruitment services
sales, (iii) a $78,000 and $234,000 period-over-period reduction of costs of products and membership services from NAPW Network for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, (iv) a decrease of $26,000 and $73,000 of direct costs incurred in connection with
our Events Division during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, as a result of differences in scheduling
and operating the events. Cost of revenues related to revenue sharing with our partner organizations decreased $38,000 and $36,000
respectively for the three and nine months ended September 30,2016  consistent with decreases in our consumer advertising revenues for
the same quarterly and year to date periods.
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  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)        
Total  $ (216)  $ (7)  $ (209)   2985.7%

 
Sales and marketing expense: Sales and marketing expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was

$3,064,000 and $10,314,000, respectively, a decrease of 2,068,000, or 40.3%, and $6,913,000, or 40.1%, respectively, from $5,132,000
and $17,227,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015. The decrease was primarily the result of 49.6%, 17.6% and
39.3% year over year reductions in the salesforces at NAPW Network, PDN Network and Noble Voice, respectively, in an effort to
improve efficiency and a reduction in the volume of digital advertising and direct mail to match the capacity of the reduced salesforce.
We expect our sales and marketing costs to increase in the future, particularly in NAPW Network, as we reinvest in our business.
 

General and administrative expense: General and administrative expenses decreased by $737,000 and $2,166,000, or 19.7% and
18.7%, to $3,011,000 and $9,428,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively. The decrease was primarily
due to (i) a $510,000 and $1,301,000 decrease in wages and benefits during the three and nine month ended September 30, 2016,
respectively, due to decreases in the number of administrative personnel at NAPW Network, (ii) a $135,000 and $106,000 decrease
during the three and nine month ended September 30, 2016, respectively, related to the closing the Los Angeles, CA office, which
includes a gain on the lease cancellation of $424,000 recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2016, partially offset by
an increase in costs related to a $500,000 settlement of a class action lawsuit as disclosed below in the discussion of Legal Proceedings;
and (iii) decreases of $102,000 and $413,000 at Noble Voice and an increase of $7,000 and decrease of $108,000 at PDN Network
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, primarily due to reductions in administrative personnel and supervisors and
aggressive vendor management and contract renegotiation partially offset by fees and expenses incurred related to the administration of
our Master Credit facility during the quarter ended September 30, 2016. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase
during the fourth quarter of 2016, mainly as a result of transaction expenses related to the Purchase Agreement with CFL discussed
above.

Impairment expense: As a result of the recurring operating losses incurred in NAPW Network since its acquisition in September
2014, management undertook a review of the carrying amount of its goodwill as of September 30, 2015. We performed our review
based on both qualitative and quantitative factors and determined that carrying value of NAPW’s goodwill exceeding its implied fair
value at September 30, 2015. Accordingly, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $26,744,000 during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015. We performed another review on both qualitative and quantitative factors as of September 30, 2016. As a
result of that analysis we determined that the carrying value of NAPW’s goodwill fairly stated its implied fair value and no further
impairment was necessary.

Depreciation and amortization expense: Depreciation and amortization expense for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2016 was $820,000 and $2,498,000, respectively, compared to $926,000 and $2,731,000 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015, a decrease of $106,000, or 11.4%, and $233,000, or 8.5%, respectively. The decrease included (i) a $60,000 and
$152,000, respectively reduction in amortization expense, resulting from the amortization of the capitalized technology costs from the
PDN Network and (ii) a decrease of $48,000 and $87,000, respectively of depreciation expense related primarily to the closure of the
NAPW Los Angeles, CA office including the related writedown of the Leasehold Improvements and furniture and fixtures from that
office which was partially offset by depreciation increases of $14,000 and $35,000 from fixed asset additions, primarily furniture and
fixtures and intangibles at Noble Voice for increased capacity at the Darien, IL call center.
 
Other Income (Expenses)
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  Nine Months Ended          
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016  2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  

  (in thousands)          
Total  $ (216)  $ (59)  $ (157)    266.1%

  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)        

Total  $ (401)  $ 2  $ (403)   (201.5%)

  Nine Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  

  (in thousands)        
Total  $ (401)  $ 94  $ (495)   (527%)

 

 
Interest expense resulting from our Master Credit Facility, which primarily includes cash interest expense and non-cash

amortization of debt issue costs, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was $216,000. Interest expense for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $9,000 and $84,000, respectively and was the result of the amortization of
accrued interest on purchased investment securities. In addition, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, we recognized
interest income of $2,000 and $26,000, respectively from interest earned on our short-term investments of cash in excess of our current
needs for operating capital. Interest earned on investments during the first nine months of 2016 was negligible.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability

 

The change in the fair value of the warrant liability is related to (i) the common stock purchase warrants issued to the White
Winston on June 30, 2016 and (ii) the common stock purchase warrants issued to underwriters in the Company’s IPO on March 4, 2013.
We recorded a non-cash expense of $401,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 related to the warrants issued
to White Winston. There was no change in the fair value of warrant liability during the three and nine months ended September 30 2016
related to the warrants issued to underwriters. We recorded a non-cash gain of $2,000 and $94,000 during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, related to changes in the fair value of our warrant liability. The change in the fair value of our
warrant liability was primarily the result of changes in our stock price.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

  Three Months Ended       
  September 30,  Change   Change  
  2016   2015  (Dollars)   (Percent)  

  (in thousands)       
Total  $ (624)  $ 2,976 $ (3,600)   (121.0)%

  Nine Months Ended       
  September 30,  Change   Change  
  2016   2015  (Dollars)   (Percent)  

  (in thousands)       
Total  $ (1,218)  $ 1,509 $ (2,727)   (180.7)%
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The effective income tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 32.9% and 25.7%, respectively,

resulting in income tax benefits of $624,000 and $1,218,000, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 was (10.3)% and (4.6)%, respectively, resulting in income tax of $2,976,000 and $1,509,000, respectively.
The majority of the difference in the effective income tax rate was due to the initial valuation allowance we took against our deferred
tax assets in the third quarter of 2015 and have recorded a valuation allowance each subsequent quarter. We did not record an
allowance in the first or second quarters of 2015. The remaining difference in the effective tax rates for the first nine months of 2016
compared to the first nine months of 2015 was due primarily to the accrual of the non-recurring legal settlements of $500,000 through
the second quarter of 2016 and a year over year reduction in the net operating losses of our businesses. During the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $458,000 and $4,106,000, respectively, and during the
nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $832,000 and $4,106,000,
respectively. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent
upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management
considered the scheduled reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in
making this assessment. Based on the consideration of these items, management determined that it is more likely than not that we will
not realize the deferred income tax asset balances and therefore, initially recorded a valuation allowance as of September 30, 2015.
Management has again evaluated the deferred tax asset for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and has determined a full
valuation allowance continues to be applicable. 
 
Net loss
 

The following table sets forth each operating segment’s net loss for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison is
not necessarily indicative of future results.
 
  Three Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)        
NAPW Network  $ (604)  $ (28,539)  $ 27,935   (97.9%)
PDN Network   (513)   (2,858)   2,345   (82.1%)
Noble Voice   (156)   (410)   254   (62.0%)
Consolidated Net Loss  $ (1,273)  $ (31,807)  $ 30,534   (96.0%)
 
  Nine Months Ended        
  September 30,   Change   Change  
  2016   2015   (Dollars)   (Percent)  
  (in thousands)        
NAPW Network  $ (1,616)  $ (30,146)  $ 28,530   (94.6%)
PDN Network   (1,083)   (3,588)   2,505   (69.8%)
Noble Voice   (820)   (704)   (116)   16.5%
Consolidated Net Loss  $ (3,519)  $ (34,438)  $ 30,919   (89.8%)
 

As the result of the factors discussed above, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 we incurred
$1,273,000 and $3,519,000 of net losses, respectively, a decrease of 96.0% and 89.8% from net losses for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015. The changes were primarily attributable to a goodwill impairment charge of $26,744,000 taken on
September 30, 2015 against NAPW and reduced operating losses at NAPW Network, PDN Network and Noble Voice. The loss at
NAPW Network for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 included a non-recurring expense of $500,000 related to the settlement
of a lawsuit, offset by a $424,000 gain on the lease cancellation of our former Los Angeles, California NAPW office. The Company also
recorded $624,000 and $1,218,000 of income tax benefits for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively,
compared to income tax expenses of $2,976,000 and $1,509,000 respectively for the same periods one year prior based on a reduced loss
before income taxes and an initial allowance recorded against deferred tax assets on September 30, 2015. We anticipate to continue to
have net losses for the foreseeable future, as we utilize our efforts and resources to re-invest in the Company and its business plan.
 

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we incurred a net loss of $604,000 and $1,616,000, respectively,
attributable to the NAPW Network, compared to $28,539,000 and $30,146,000 for the prior year periods. This decrease in net loss was
primarily attributable to a goodwill impairment charge of $-0- for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to
$26,744,000 for the same prior year periods, gain from the lease cancellation, the closing of NAPW Network office facilities during the
year ended December 31, 2015 and the reductions in force and reduced spending on digital advertising, partially offset by a decrease in
recognized revenue and the $500,000 of lawsuit settlements.
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During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we incurred $513,000 and $1,083,000 of net losses, respectively,

attributable to the PDN Network, a decrease of $2,345,000 and $2,505,000, compared to the net losses incurred for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015. This decrease in net loss is primarily attributable to reductions in staffing levels in our sales,
marketing and general and administrative teams combined with increased revenue generated by our PDN Recruits product introduced in
December 2015.
 

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recognized a net loss of $156,000 and $820,000, respectively,
attributable to the Noble Voice division, compared to net losses of $410,000 and $703,000 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015. The decrease in net losses for the three months and increases in losses for the nine months ended September 30,
2016, compared to the same prior year periods were primarily due to a decline in revenues of $780,000 and $3,363,000 for the same
corresponding year-over-year periods, which were partially offset by reductions in costs of sales and service and sales and marketing
costs largely due to efficiencies made in the purchase of data the Company uses to drive internet traffic and corresponding reductions to
the salesforce.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

The following table summarizes our liquidity and capital resources as of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015,
respectively, and is intended to supplement the more detailed discussion that follows:
 
  September 30,  December 31, 
  2016   2015  
 (in thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 516  $ 2,071 
Short-term investments  $ -  $ 500 
Working capital (deficiency)  $ (10,597)  $ (9,199)

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents and the net proceeds from the recent issuance of Common
Stock to CFL. During the third quarter of 2016, our principal sources of liquidity also included the proceeds from the Master Credit
Facility with White Winston, which was terminated on November 7, 2016 as discussed in more detail below.

As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 we had working capital deficiencies of approximately $10,597,000 and
$9,199,000 respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of approximately $46,869,000 at September 30, 2016. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2016, we generated a net loss of approximately $3,519,000, used cash in operations of approximately $2,489,000,
and we expect that we will continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. 

On November 7, 2016, we consummated the issuance and sale of 1,777,417 shares of Common Stock, to CFL, at a price of
$9.60 per share (giving effect to the Reverse Split), pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement with CFL. We received total gross
proceeds of approximately $17.1 million from the Share Issuance, or $14.1 million after giving effect to the payment for 312,500 shares
of Common Stock tendered and not withdrawn in the Tender Offer. We received approximately $9.0 million in net proceeds from the
Share Issuance, after repayment of outstanding indebtedness and the payment of transaction-related expenses at the closing.
 

On November 7, 2016, in connection with the closing of the Share Issuance, we (i) repaid in full all amounts owed under the
Master Credit Facility, and (ii) terminated the Master Credit Facility and related agreements between the Company and White Winston,
including the Board Representation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2016.  All security interests created under the Master Credit Facility
were released upon repayment of the amounts under and termination of the Master Credit Facility.

We currently anticipate that our available funds and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital
requirements for the next twelve months. However, there can be no assurances that our business plans and actions will be successful,
that we will generate anticipated revenues, or that unforeseen circumstances will not require additional funding sources in the future or
effectuate plans to conserve liquidity. Future efforts to raise additional funds may not be successful or they may not be available on
acceptable terms, if at all.
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We collect NAPW Network membership fees generally at the commencement of their membership term or at renewal periods

thereafter. The memberships we sell are for one year and we defer recognition of the revenue from membership sales and renewals and
recognize it ratably over the 12 month period. As a result, we record a liability for the deferred revenue which results in a large working
capital deficiency. Our PDN division also sells recruitment services to employers, generally on a one year contract basis. This revenue is
also deferred and recognized over the life of the contract. The deferred revenue from the PDN contracts also increases our working
capital deficiency. Our payment terms for PDN Network and Noble Voice customers range from 30 to 60 days. We consider the
difference between the payment terms and payment receipts a result of transit time for invoice and payment processing and to date have
not experienced any liquidity issues as a result of the payments extending past the specified terms. Cash and cash equivalents and short
term investments consist primarily of cash on deposit with banks and investments in money market funds, corporate and municipal debt
and U.S. government and U.S. government agency securities.

  Nine Months Ended  
  September 30,  
  2016   2015  

  (in thousands)  
Cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities  $ (2,489)  $ (4,207)
Investing activities   694   3,910 
Financing activities   239   2,658 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ (1,556)  $ 2,361 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was $2,489,000. We had a net loss of $3,519,000
during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, a deferred tax benefit of $1,218,000 and a gain on lease cancellation of $424,000,
which were partially offset by non-cash depreciation and amortization of $2,498,000, an increase in the fair value of warrant liabilities of
$401,000, stock-based compensation expense of $218,000 and deferred financing cost amortization of $157,000. Changes in operating
assets and liabilities used $601,000 of cash during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, consisting primarily of decreases in
deferred revenue and increased prepaid expenses partially offset by increases in accrued expenses.
 
Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $4,207,000. We had a net loss of $34,438,000
during the nine months ended September 30, 2015, which was offset by non-cash depreciation and amortization of $2,731,000,
impairment expense of $26,744,000, stock-based compensation expense of $351,000, a decrease in the fair value of warrant liabilities of
$94,000, the amortization of premiums paid on short-term investments of $77,000, a loss on the sale of property and equipment of
$33,000, the amortization of debt discount related to the Promissory Note of $8,000 and a deferred tax benefit of $1,509,000. Changes in
operating assets and liabilities used $1,127,000 of cash during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.
 
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities
 
Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was $694,000, consisting of $500,000 of
proceeds from the maturities of short-term investments and $194,000 of returned security deposits.

Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $3,910,000, consisting of $5,297,000 of
proceeds from the maturities of short-term investments, offset by $925,000 from the purchase of short-term investments, $393,000
invested to develop technology, $54,000 in purchases of property and equipment and $15,000 of new security deposits.
  
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
 
Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was $239,000, consisting of $1,943,000 of
proceeds drawn on our Master Credit Facility, partially offset by $488,000 of costs related to securing that facility, payment of
$1,049,000 of costs related to the CFL Transaction and $166,000 due to the increase in the merchant reserve for NAPW Network.
 
Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was $2,658,000, consisting of $5,010,000 of
proceeds from the sale of common stock and $225,000 of proceeds from the sale of over-allotment common stock to our underwriters,
offset by $671,000 of costs related to the common stock offerings, $1,295,000 for the repayment of a note payable, $400,000 decrease in
our merchant reserve, $196,000 for the repurchase of shares of vested restricted stock, and $15,000 for the payment of capital lease
obligations.
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Master Credit Facility
 
On November 7, 2016, in connection with the closing of the Share Issuance, we (i) repaid in full all amounts owed under the Master
Credit Facility and (ii) terminated the Master Credit Facility and related agreements between the Company and White Winston,
including the Board Representation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2016.  All security interests created under the Master Credit Facility
were released upon repayment of the amounts under and termination of the Master Credit Facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

Since inception, we have not engaged in any off-balance sheet activities as defined in Regulation S-K Item 303(a)(4).
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”), as an “emerging growth company,”
we may delay adoption of new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until the earlier of the date that (i) we are
no longer an emerging growth company or (ii) we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period for complying
with such new or revised accounting standards.  We have elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. 
Our consolidated financial statements may therefore not be comparable to those of companies that comply with such new or revised
accounting standards.  Upon issuance of new or revised accounting standards that apply to our consolidated financial statements, we
will disclose the date on which adoption is required for non-emerging growth companies and the date on which we will adopt the
recently issued accounting guidelines.
 

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or U.S.
GAAP.  The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to exercise considerable judgment with respect to
establishing sound accounting policies and in making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of our assets and
liabilities, our recognition of revenues and expenses, and disclosure of commitments and contingencies at the date of the consolidated
financial statements.
 

We base our estimates on our historical experience, knowledge of our business and industry, current and expected economic
conditions, the attributes of our products, the regulatory environment, and in certain cases, the results of outside appraisals.  We
periodically re-evaluate our estimates and assumptions with respect to these judgments and modify our approach when circumstances
indicate that modifications are necessary.  These estimates and assumptions form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
 

While we believe that the factors we evaluate provide us with a meaningful basis for establishing and applying sound
accounting policies, we cannot guarantee that the results will always be accurate.  Since the determination of these estimates requires
the exercise of judgment, actual results could differ from such estimates.
 

There have been no material changes to the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to the critical
accounting policies and estimates described in the 2015 Annual Report, which we believe are the most critical to our business and the
understanding of our results of operations and affect the more significant judgments and estimates that we use in the preparation of our
financial statements.
 
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

This Quarterly Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  These statements concern expectations, beliefs,
projections, plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. 
Specifically, this Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements regarding:
 

· our beliefs regarding our ability to create enhanced value for our members and customers;
· our beliefs regarding the relation between the number of members or registered users and our revenues;
· our expectations regarding future changes in our salesforce;
· the anticipated effect of the Detroit office closure on the overhead costs and supervision;
· our expectations regarding the changes in revenues in 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019;
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· our expectations regarding future increases in sales and marketing costs and general and administrative expenses; and
· our beliefs regarding our liquidity requirements, the availability of cash and capital resources to fund our business in

the future and intended use of liquidity.
 

These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties and
assumptions.  We wish to caution readers that certain important factors may have affected and could in the future affect our actual
results and could cause actual results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement.  The most important
factors that could prevent us from achieving our goals, and cause the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements and the actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by those forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the
following:
 

· our ability to realize the anticipated benefits from the transaction with CFL;
· failure to realize synergies and other financial benefits from mergers and acquisitions within expected time frames,

including increases in expected costs or difficulties related to integration of merger and acquisition partners;
· inability to identify and successfully negotiate and complete additional combinations with potential merger or

acquisition partners or to successfully integrate such businesses;
· our history of operating losses;
· we may not be able to reverse the significant decline in our revenues;
· our limited operating history in a new and unproven market;
· increasing competition in the market for online professional networks;
· our ability to comply with increasing governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to privacy;
· our ability to adapt to changing technologies and social trends and preferences;
· our ability to attract and retain a sales and marketing team, management and other key personnel and the ability of that

team to execute on the Company’s business strategies and plans;
· our ability to obtain and maintain protection for our intellectual property;
· any future litigation regarding our business, including intellectual property claims;
· general and economic business conditions; and
· legal and regulatory developments.

 
The foregoing list of important factors may not include all such factors.  You should consult other disclosures made by the

Company (such as in our other filings with the SEC or in company press releases) for additional factors, risks and uncertainties that may
cause actual results to differ materially from those projected by the Company.  Please refer to Part I. Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” of this
Quarterly Report and to  Part I. Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” of our 2015 Annual Report for additional information regarding factors that
could affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.  You should consider these factors, risks and uncertainties when
evaluating any forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement.  Forward-looking
statements represent our views as of the date of this Quarterly Report, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking
statement to reflect the impact of circumstances or events that arise after the date of this Quarterly Report.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

As of September 30, 2016, our management conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).  Based
upon that evaluation and because of the material weaknesses related to our internal controls as described below, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the end of the period
covered by this Quarterly Report in ensuring that information required to be disclosed was recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to provide reasonable assurance that information required to
be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

During the third quarter of 2016, we continued to undertake certain initiatives to improve and remediate material weaknesses
related to our internal control over financial reporting that were identified for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.  Specifically, we
continued implementing new policies to more fully segregate incompatible duties and enhance the overall internal control structure. 
There have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the third quarter of 2016 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
 

We anticipate that the actions described above and resulting improvements in controls will strengthen the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting and will, over time, address the related material weakness.  However, because many of the controls in
the Company’s system of internal controls rely extensively on manual review and approval, the successful operation of these controls
may be required for several quarters prior to management being able to conclude that the material weakness has been remediated.
 

PART II
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to an action captioned LinkedIn Corp. v. NAPW, Inc.
and Professional Diversity Network, Inc., No. 16-CV-299784 (Santa Clara Superior Ct.). The lawsuit was filed on September 12, 2016.
LinkedIn Corp. (“LinkedIn”), the plaintiff, seeks payment of outstanding amounts it claims are owed under a marketing agreement
between LinkedIn and NAPW, Inc. The Company has prepared but has not yet filed a counterclaim. LinkedIn has agreed to postpone the
deadline for the Company to file a responsive pleading to January 5, 2017. The parties have also agreed to mediate their respective
claims, with a mediation currently scheduled for December 20, 2016. The case is in its preliminary stages and it is uncertain whether or
not its outcome is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to litigation captioned Gauri Ramnath, et al. v.
Professional Diversity Network, Inc., et al., No. BC604153 (Los Angeles Superior Ct.), a putative class action alleging violations of
various California Labor Code (wage & hour) sections.  The plaintiffs seek unspecified damages. The complaint was filed in December
2015 and the Company has answered.  On April 28, 2016, the parties entered into a mutual settlement agreement and release, on behalf
of all putative class participants, in the amount of $500,000. Such amount is recorded in accrued expenses in the accompanying
condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2016. The parties’ agreement and its amount are subject to Court and state
agency approval. The Company has been notified that the Court will hold a hearing to consider final approval on November 28, 2016.
The Company anticipates that, if the global settlement is approved, it will have to fund in late Fourth Quarter of 2016 or early First
Quarter of 2017.
 

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, NAPW, Inc., are parties to an administrative action before the National Labor
Relations Board captioned as In re Professional Diversity Network , Cases 31-CA-159810 and 31-CA-162904 (NLRB), alleging
violations of the National Labor Relations Act, where employee was allegedly terminated for asserting “union organizing” rights. The
complaint was filed on September 21, 2015.  While the Company disputes that any rights were impacted, the NLRB has issued its
preliminary order requiring the Company to take certain remedial actions in the form of posting notices and revising certain policies.
The Company is currently working with the agency to comply with the NLRB order.  The Company does not anticipate that its outcome
will have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.

The Company is a party to an administrative action before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission captioned as Paul
Sutcliffe v. Professional Diversity Network, Inc., No. 533-2016-00033 (EEOC), alleging violations of Title VII and the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, where employee was allegedly terminated due to his race (Caucasian) and his age (over 40). The
complaint was filed on August 4, 2016.  The EEOC has issued a preliminary finding, that the Company discriminated against the
complainant.  The Company is currently weighing its appellate options, but does not anticipate that this case will have a material impact
on the Company’s financial position.

On November 4, 2016, we entered into a Confidential Settlement and Mutual Release of All Claims (the “Release”) with
Matthew B. Proman (“Proman”), pursuant to which we agreed among other things that (i) the we would pay to Proman $300,000 at the
closing of the Share Issuance, (ii) the Separation Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims, dated July 16, 2015 between Proman and
PDN (the “Separation Agreement”) would be terminated as of November 4, 2016, and (iii) the Seller Promissory Note in the principal
amount of $445,000 dated September 24, 2014 in favor of Proman (the “Promissory Note”) would be terminated as of November 4,
2016.  We have also agreed that notwithstanding the termination of the Separation Agreement pursuant to the Release, Proman’s co-sale
right would be preserved and he would continue to hold the options and warrants he held as of November 4, 2016.  On November 7,
2016, the Company paid Proman $300,000 pursuant to the Release.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
 

The information presented below updates, and should be read in conjunction with, the risk factors and information disclosed in
our 2015 Annual Report and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016 filed with the SEC on August 15,
2016.
 
The proceeds from the Share Issuance may not be sufficient to implement our productivity improvement initiatives.

We received net proceeds of approximately $9.0 million from the Share Issuance after giving effect to the payment for 312,500
shares of Common Stock tendered and not withdrawn in the Tender Offer, repayment of outstanding indebtedness and the payment of
transaction-related expenses at the closing. We expect to use the net proceeds for general corporate and working capital purposes
including to implement the productivity improvement initiatives that we have identified as key to our ability to deliver profitable growth
over the long term.  We cannot be certain that the proceeds from the Share Issuance will be sufficient to implement all or any of the
initiatives or that these initiatives will improve our short and long-term business performance or prospects. In the event that we cannot
implement these initiatives or that these initiatives are not successful, we could again face liquidity and going concern issues, which
could result in your losing your entire investment in the Company.

The Company is controlled by CFL, and CFL’s interests may differ from the interests of our other stockholders.

CFL beneficially owns 51% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock on a fully diluted basis.  Five out of nine members of
our Board of Directors are nominated by CFL. CFL may not exercise its rights as our controlling stockholder in a manner consistent with
the interests of our other stockholders. By virtue of its ownership of a majority of our Common Stock and the power to designate the
majority of our Board of Directors, CFL is in a position to influence the Company’s actions for its own benefit.
 
Public sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock by CFL could cause our stock price to fall.

CFL beneficially owns 51% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock on a fully diluted basis.  Pursuant to the Stockholders’
Agreement, dated November 7, 2016, by and among  the Company, CFL and CFL shareholders, CFL, CFL shareholders and their
respective controlled affiliates (collectively, the “CFL Group”) are subject to a one-year lock-up with respect to all shares of Common
Stock owned by members of the CFL Group, subject to certain exceptions.  However, after the one-year period, it may generally sell its
shares in the public markets, subject to applicable securities laws.  Furthermore, we have granted CFL and the CFL shareholders certain
registration rights that provide them the ability to register for resale, from time to time and in accordance with the terms of the
registration rights agreement, all shares of Common Stock owned by members of the CFL Group, subject to certain exceptions.  Sales of
a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress
the market price of our Common Stock and could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our Common Stock.
 
Because we have a majority stockholder, our public float is more limited which could impact your ability to sell your shares and
could result in increased volatility in our stock price.
 

CFL beneficially owns 51% of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock.  As a result, the trading volume of our Common
Stock could be more limited than if our shares were more-widely held.  In addition, because we are a relatively small company, the
range of investors willing to invest in our shares may be relatively limited. As a result of these factors, it may be more difficult for you
to sell your shares of Common Stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate, and could increase the volatility of our stock price.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 

Other than as previously reported in our current report on Form 8-K filed on August 15, 2016, we did not sell any equity
securities in transactions that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 during the three months ended September 30, 2016.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

None.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
 

Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 
2.2 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 12, 2016, by and between the Company and Cosmic Forward Limited,

including as Exhibit A the form of Stockholders’ Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 15, 2016).

  
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended through October 17, 2016.
  
3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Professional Diversity Network, Inc., dated November 7, 2016 (incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 8, 2016).
  
4.9 Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of November 7, 2016, by and among the Company, CFL, Maoji (Michael) Wang, Jingbo

Song, Yong Xiong Zheng and Nan Nan Kou (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 8, 2016).

  
10.29 Employment Agreement between the Company and Katherine Butkevich, dated September 30, 2016 (incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 4, 2016).
  
10.30 Confidential Settlement and Mutual Release of All Claims, dated November 4, 2016 by and between the Company and

Matthew B. Proman.
  
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d- 14(a) as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d- 14(a) as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
                  
101. INS XBRL Instance Document
101. SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101. CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101. DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101. LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101. PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on

its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
  PROFESSIONAL DIVERSITY NETWORK, INC.  
     
     
     
Date:          November 14, 2016          By:  /s/ David Mecklenburger  
  Name: David Mecklenburger  
  Title: Chief Financial Officer

(On behalf of the Registrant and as principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer)
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3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended through October 17, 2016.
  
10.30 Confidential Settlement and Mutual Release of All Claims, dated November 4, 2016 by and between the Company and

Matthew B. Proman.
  
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d- 14(a) as adopted pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d- 14(a) as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
101. INS XBRL Instance Document
101. SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101. CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101. DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101. LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101. PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 3.1
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

of
PROFESSIONAL DIVERSITY NETWORK, INC.

 
(Conformed copy incorporating all amendments through October 17, 2016)

 
1.         Name.  The name of the corporation is “Professional Diversity Network, Inc.” (the “ Corporation”)

 
2.         Address; Registered Office and Agent.  The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is

Corporation Service Company, 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, City of Wilmington, County of New Castle.  The name of its registered
agent at such address is Corporation Service Company.
 

3.         Purposes.  The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be
organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “General Corporation Law”).
 

4.         Stock.
 

4.1          Classes of Stock.  The Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of stock to be designated, respectively,
common stock (“Common Stock”) and preferred stock (“Preferred Stock”). The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the
Corporation is authorized to issue is 46,000,000.
 

4.2          Common Stock.  The total number of shares of Common Stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue
is 3,125,000 shares, $0.01 par value per share. The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not
below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the total voting power of the
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the General
Corporation Law or any corresponding provision hereinafter enacted.
 

Effective as of 12:01 a.m., EDT, on September 27, 2016 (the “Effective Time”), each eight (8) shares of Common Stock
issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be combined and changed into one (1) validly issued, fully paid and
non-assessable share of Common Stock without any further action by the Corporation or any holder thereof, subject to the treatment of
fractional share interests as described below (the “Reverse Stock Split”). No certificates representing fractional shares of Common Stock
shall be issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders who otherwise would be entitled to receive fractional shares of
Common Stock because they hold a number of shares not evenly divisible by the Reverse Stock Split ratio will automatically be entitled
to receive an additional fraction of a share of Common Stock to round up to the next whole share. Each certificate that immediately prior
to the Effective Time represented shares of Common Stock (“Old Certificates”), shall thereafter represent that number of shares of
Common Stock into which the shares of Common Stock represented by the Old Certificate shall have been combined, plus any additional
fraction of a share of Common Stock to round up to the next whole share.”
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4.3          Preferred Stock.  The total number of shares of Preferred Stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue

is 1,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value per share.  The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series.  The Board of
Directors is hereby authorized, within the limitations and restrictions stated in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the
“Restated Certificate”), to provide for the issue of all or any of the shares of Preferred Stock in one or more series, and to fix the number
of shares and to determine or alter for each such series, such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be
stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issue of such shares and as may
be permitted by the General Corporation Law.  The Board of Directors is also authorized to increase or decrease the number of shares of
any series of Preferred Stock subsequent to the issue of shares of that series, but not below the number of shares of such series then
outstanding.  In case the number of shares of any series shall be so decreased, the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status
which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series.
 

5.         Board of Directors.
 

5.1          Number of Directors.  The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by, or under the direction of,
the Board.  Unless and except to the extent that the Amended and Restated By-laws of the Corporation, as such By-laws may be amended
from time to time (the “By-laws”), shall so require, the election of the directors of the Corporation need not be by written ballot.  The total
number of directors constituting the entire Board of Directors shall be not less than one (1) nor more than seven (7), with the then
authorized number of directors being fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors shall not be divided into
classes.  Each director shall initially serve until the next meeting of stockholders held after the effective date of this Restated Certificate. 
Thereafter, each director shall serve for a one (1) year term.
 

5.1          Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships.  Except as otherwise required by law, vacancies and newly created
directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors elected by all of the stockholders having the right to vote
may be filled by a majority of the directors (including, in the case of the resignation of one or more directors, those directors who have so
resigned), although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.  A person so elected by the directors then in office to fill a
vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next election for which such director shall have been chosen and until his
or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.  The total number of directors constituting the entire Board of Directors shall
be not less than one (1) nor more than nine (9), with the then authorized number of directors being fixed from time to time by the Board
of Directors.
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5.2          Removal of Directors.  Any director, or the entire Board, may be removed from office at any time, but only for

cause and only by the affirmative vote of at least 66.67% of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.
 

6.         Limitation of Liability.  To the fullest extent permitted under the General Corporation Law, as amended from time to
time, no director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of
fiduciary duty as a director, provided that this provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director (a) for any breach of the
director’s duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (b) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (c) under Section 174 of the General Corporation Law or (d) for any transaction from which the
director derived any improper personal benefits.  If the General Corporation Law is hereafter amended to authorize corporate action
further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or
limited to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law, as so amended.  Any amendment, repeal or modification of the
foregoing provision shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the Corporation hereunder in respect of any act or
omission occurring prior to the time of such amendment, repeal or modification.
 

7.         Indemnification.
 

7.1          Indemnification of Directors and Officers in Third Party Proceedings.  Subject to the other provisions of this
Article VII, the Corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law, as now or hereinafter in
effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”) (other than an action by or in the right of the
Corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or while a director of the Corporation
or officer of the Corporation is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts
paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such Proceeding if such person acted in good faith
and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.  The termination of any
Proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a
presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person’s
conduct was unlawful.
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7.2          Indemnification of Directors and Officers in Actions by or in the Right of the Corporation.  Subject to the other

provisions of this Article VII, the Corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law, as now or
hereinafter in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action
or suit by or in the right of the Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or
officer of the Corporation, or while a director or officer of the Corporation is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such
person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation;
except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to
be liable to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought
shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is
fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
 

7.3          Successful Defense.  To the extent that a present or former director or officer of the Corporation has been
successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding described in Section 7.1 or Section 7.2, or in defense of
any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably
incurred by such person in connection therewith.
 

7.4          Indemnification of Others.  Subject to the other provisions of this Article VII, the Corporation shall have power
to indemnify its employees and its agents to the extent not prohibited by the General Corporation Law or other applicable law.  The Board
of Directors shall have the power to delegate the determination of whether employees or agents shall be indemnified to such person or
persons as the Board of Directors determines.
 

7.5          Advanced Payment of Expenses.  Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an officer or director of the
Corporation in defending any Proceeding shall be paid by the Corporation, and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by the
Corporation’s employees and agents in defending any Proceeding may be paid by the Corporation, in advance of the final disposition of
such Proceeding upon receipt of a written request therefor (together with documentation reasonably evidencing such expenses) and an
undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amounts if it shall ultimately be determined that the person is not entitled to be
indemnified under this Article VII or the General Corporation Law.  Such expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by former
directors and officers or other employees and agents may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the Corporation deems
reasonably appropriate and shall be subject to the Corporation’s expense guidelines.  The right to advancement of expenses shall not
apply to any claim for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to these bylaws, but shall apply to any Proceeding referenced in Section
7.6(a), 7.6(b) or 7.6(c) prior to a determination that the person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation.
 

7.6          Limitation on Indemnification.  Subject to the requirements in Section 7.3 and the General Corporation Law, the
Corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify any person pursuant to this Article VII in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of
any Proceeding):
 

(a)          for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of such person under any statute, insurance
policy, indemnity provision, vote or otherwise, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid;
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(b)          for an accounting or disgorgement of profits pursuant to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, or similar

provisions of federal, state or local statutory law or common law, if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any
settlement arrangements);
 

(c)          for any reimbursement of the Corporation by such person of any bonus or other incentive-based or
equity-based compensation or of any profits realized by such person from the sale of securities of the Corporation, as required in each
case under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting
restatement of the Corporation pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), or the payment to
the Corporation of profits arising from the purchase and sale by such person of securities in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act), if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
 

(d)          initiated by such person (and not by way of defense), unless (i) the Board of Directors authorized the
Proceeding (or the relevant part of the Proceeding) prior to its initiation, (ii) the Corporation provides the indemnification, in its sole
discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the Corporation under applicable law, (iii) otherwise required to be made under Section 7.7 or
(iv) otherwise required by applicable law; or
 

(e)          if prohibited by applicable law; provided, however, that if any provision or provisions of this Article VII
shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever:  (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions of this Article VII (including, without limitation, each portion of any paragraph or clause containing any such provision held to
be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby; and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Article VII (including, without limitation, each such portion
of any paragraph or clause containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give
effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable.
 

7.7          Determination; Claim.  If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article VII is not
paid in full within 90 days after receipt by the Corporation of the written request therefor, the claimant shall be entitled to an adjudication
by a court of competent jurisdiction of his or her entitlement to such indemnification or advancement of expenses.  The Corporation shall
indemnify such person against any and all expenses that are incurred by such person in connection with any action for indemnification or
advancement of expenses from the Corporation under this Article VII, to the extent such person is successful in such action, and to the
extent not prohibited by law.  In any such suit, the Corporation shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the burden of proving
that the claimant is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses.
 

7.8          Non-Exclusivity of Rights.  The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant
to, this Article VII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses
may be entitled under the certificate of incorporation or any statute, bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or
otherwise, both as to action in such person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office.  The
Corporation is specifically authorized to enter into individual contracts with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or agents
respecting indemnification and advancement of expenses, to the fullest extent not prohibited by the General Corporation Law or other
applicable law.
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7.9          Insurance.  The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a

director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such
person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation
would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of the General Corporation Law.
 

7.10        Survival.  The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VII shall continue
as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and
administrators of such a person.
 

7.11        Effect of Repeal or Modification.  Any amendment, alteration or repeal of this Article VII shall not adversely
affect any right or protection hereunder of any person in respect of any act or omission occurring prior to such amendment, alteration or
repeal.
 

7.12        Certain Definitions.  For purposes of this Article VII, references to the “Corporation” shall include, in addition to
the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger
which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to indemnify its directors, officers, employees or
agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the
request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or
other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VII with respect to the resulting or surviving
corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.  For purposes
of this Article VII, references to “other enterprises” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise
taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the Corporation” shall
include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such
director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee
benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation” as referred to in this Article
VII.
 

8.          Adoption, Amendment and/or Repeal of By-Laws.  In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by the
laws of the State of Delaware, the Board is expressly authorized to make, alter and repeal the By-laws, subject to the power of the
stockholders of the Corporation to alter or repeal any By-laws whether adopted by them or otherwise.
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9.         Certificate Amendments.  The Corporation reserves the right at any time, and from time to time, to amend, alter, change

or repeal any provision contained in this Restated Certificate.  In addition, other provisions authorized by the laws of the State of
Delaware at the time in force may be added or inserted, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by applicable law.  All rights,
preferences and privileges of whatsoever nature conferred upon stockholders, directors or any other persons whomsoever by and pursuant
to this Restated Certificate in its present form or as hereafter amended are granted and held subject to the rights the Corporation has
reserved in this Section 9.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Restated Certificate or the By-laws (and notwithstanding the fact
that a lesser percentage may be permitted by applicable law, this Restated Certificate or the By-laws), the affirmative vote of a majority of
the total voting power of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote shall be required to amend or repeal, or
adopt any provisions inconsistent with Sections 5, 8, or 9 of this Restated Certificate.
 

WITNESS the signature of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation this 5th day of March, 2013.
 

 PROFESSIONAL DIVERSITY NETWORK,
INC.

 

    
 By: /s/ James Kirsch  
 Name:  James R. Kirsch  
 Title: Chief Executive Officer  
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Exhibit 10.30

CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT AND MUTUAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

This Confidential Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release of All Claims (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between
PROFESSIONAL DIVERSITY NETWORK, INC., a Delaware Corporation, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries (collectively, “PDN”),
and MATTHEW B. PROMAN (“Proman”). PDN and Proman shall collectively be referred to herein as the “Parties.”

Recitals

WHEREAS, on or about September 24, 2014, PDN executed a Seller Promissory Note in the principal amount of $445,000 in
favor of Proman (“Note”).

WHEREAS, on or about July 16, 2015, the Parties executed a Confidential Separation Agreement and Mutual Release of Claims
(“Separation Agreement”).

WHEREAS, on or about November 11, 2015, PDN filed a Claim against Proman with the American Arbitration Association,
Case # 01-15-0005-6408, alleging breaches by Proman of the Separation Agreement (“Arbitration”).

WHEREAS, Proman has raised, but has not asserted, potential claims against PDN, including allegations that PDN has breached
the Note (“Unasserted Claims”).

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to compromise, settle and resolve all claims that they have or may have against each other arising
out of or relating to the Separation Agreement, Arbitration, the Unasserted Claims, and the Note.

WHEREAS, the Parties understand and agree that entry into this Agreement is a compromise of disputed claims and is not to be
construed as an admission of liability by any of the Parties and that the Parties deny any and all liability and intend merely to avoid the
expense and inconvenience of further litigation by entering into this Agreement.

Agreement and Release

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and agreements, covenants, and provisions contained in this
Agreement, the Parties agree on the following terms:

1.          Effective Date. This Effective Date of this Agreement will be the date this Agreement is signed by representatives for
each of the Parties (“Effective Date”).

2.          Additional Consideration.  PDN shall pay to Proman at the closing of the control transaction, the sum of $300,000.00.

3.          Separation Agreement and Note Terminated. Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, the Separation Agreement,
the Note, and all of their respective terms and provisions are terminated as of the Effective Date and shall have no force or effect
thereafter.  In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of the Separation Agreement and/or the Note, the
terms of this Agreement shall control.
   



 
4.          Co-Sale Rights Preserved.  Notwithstanding the termination of the Separation Agreement, Proman shall maintain a co-

sale right in connection with the issuance by PDN of any shares of its common stock at a 1 for 1 ratio, with the exception of shares issued
by PDN pursuant to a Board-approved employee incentive plan.  Accordingly, for each share of its common stock PDN proposes to be
issued and sold, Proman would have the right to sell one of his shares of PDN common stock.

5.          Existing Warrants and Options Preserved.  Nothing in this Agreement shall in any manner extinguish, limit or otherwise
effect options or warrants held by Proman as of the Effective Date, and all such options and warrants shall continue to be governed by the
Parties’ 2014 Merger Agreement and associated documents.

6.          Mutual Release.  Each Party, and their successors in interest, hereby mutually release the other Party and its parents,
divisions, subsidiaries, and affiliated entities, and each of their respective current and former directors, officers, executives, employees,
agents, attorneys, insurers, legal successors, assigns, and affiliates of and from any and all claims, actions and causes of action, whether
now known or unknown, which any Party now has, or at any other time had, or shall or may have against those released parties based
upon or arising out of any matter, cause, fact, thing, act or omission whatsoever occurring or existing at any time up to and including the
Effective Date, including, but not limited to, the claims asserted in the Arbitration, the Unasserted Claims, any claims arising from or
related to the Separation Agreement, and any claims arising from or related to the Note.  The Parties specifically recognize that PDN
contemplates a change of control transaction with Cosmic Forward Limited (“CFL”), pursuant to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement,
dated as of August 12, 2016, by and between PDN and CFL, and Proman recognizes and agrees that PDN’s affiliates specifically include
CFL and its shareholders (Messrs. Michael Wang, Jinbo Song, Yong Xiong Zheng and Nan Nan Kou), and therefore Proman agrees that
his promises, covenants and agreements in this Agreement apply also to CFL and its shareholders.

7.          Section 1542 Waiver. Proman acknowledges that he has read section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California,
which states in full:

A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the
time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the
debtor.

Proman waives any rights that he has or may have under section 1542 (or any similar provision of the laws of any other jurisdiction) to the
full extent that he may lawfully waive such rights pertaining to this general release of claims, and affirms that he is releasing all known
and unknown claims that he has or may have against the parties listed above.
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8.          Confidentiality. Each Party to this Agreement agrees that he or it shall not directly or indirectly disclose any of the terms

of the Agreement, this Agreement or negotiations relating to this Agreement, except: (i) by court order or validly issued subpoena; (ii) in
an action or other proceeding among the Parties hereto, or any of them, regarding enforcement of the terms of this Agreement; (iii) by
agreement, in writing, among the Parties to this Agreement; (iv) by the Parties to their counsel, auditors, accountants, insurers, reinsurers,
and agents; or (v) as otherwise required by law, rule or regulation. If any Party to this Agreement is served with a demand or request to
produce this Agreement, or the information contained herein (whether expressly or otherwise), such Party shall give written notice to the
other Party. Such notice shall be given within ten (10) days of the receipt of such disclosure demand or request, unless ten (10) days’
notice would not permit sufficient time in which to allow the other Party to assert any interest in prohibiting the requested disclosure. In
such case, the Party being requested to make the disclosure shall give written notice to the other Party as soon as possible.

9.          Non-Disparagement.

a.          Proman agrees that he will not discuss, comment upon, disparage (i.e., make any negative statement), or disclose any
information, in any manner or form, directly or indirectly, to any person or entity, about PDN, it officers, directors, agents, other
employees, or other representatives, its business or operations, and/or any aspect of Proman’s employment with PDN; provided, however,
that Proman can provide factual information (i) only about his professional accomplishments and tasks performed while employed by
PDN, and  (ii) only in communications with prospective employers or business partners, consistent with his obligations under this
Agreement, his other agreements with PDN, and any other applicable contractual or legal obligations. No other disclosures by Proman
permissible in this context.

b.          PDN, its executives, control employees, directors, officers, agents, and attorneys will not, at any time in the future, make
any critical or disparaging statements about Proman to any third-parties (including, without limitation, any print or broadcast media).

c.          The Parties specifically recognize and agree that, in the event either makes or engages in any discussion, commentary,
disparagement, negative statement, or disclosure of information enumerated in Sections 9(a) or 9(b) about Proman (if by PDN) or about
any individual officer or director (if by Proman), this Agreement in no way prohibits or constrains Proman or that officer or director from
taking any steps, including making any public communications they deem necessary, in order to respond to the other’s communications.

d.          The Parties agree that this Paragraph 9 is a core provision of this Agreement, and that the failure to comply with it shall
be a material breach of this Agreement.
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10.         Acknowledgement of Materiality and Reasonableness of Terms.

a.          The Parties acknowledge and agree that the covenants set forth in Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement:

i. are essential and material terms of this Agreement, and that the Parties would not agree to settle and compromise
the Parties’ disputes in the absence of these covenants;

ii. are supported by adequate consideration as set forth in this Agreement;

iii. are reasonable and necessary for and tailored to protect Parties’ legitimate business interests, including without
limitation the Parties’ reputation, goodwill, confidential information, and customer base;

iv. do not and will not prevent Proman from earning a livelihood, and/or place any undue restraint or hardship upon
Proman;

v. are not in conflict with or injurious to any public interest.

b.          The Parties acknowledge and agree that they: (i) fully understand the covenants set forth in Sections 8 and 9 of this
Agreement; (ii) have had full and complete opportunity to discuss and resolve any ambiguities or uncertainties regarding these covenants
before signing this Agreement; (iii) have voluntarily agreed to comply with these covenants.

c.          The Parties knowingly and willingly agree not to challenge, argue, or contend in any way that the covenants set forth in
Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement are unenforceable or unreasonable, including without limitation unenforceable or unreasonable in
scope, territory, or period of time.  However, if any court or other tribunal shall at any time hold these covenants to be unenforceable or
unreasonable, including without limitation unenforceable or unreasonable in scope, territory or period of time, then the court or other
tribunal shall determine how to cure the covenants to make them reasonable in the eyes of that court or tribunal.

11.        Remedies: Injunctive Relief and Liquidated Damages.

a.          The Parties acknowledge and agree that any actual or threatened breach of the covenants set forth in Sections 8 and/or 9
of this Agreement will result in irreparable and continuing damage to the other party, for which there will be no adequate remedy at law.
In the event of any actual or threatened breach of these covenants, the non-breaching party shall be entitled to:  (i) injunctive relief,
including the right to a temporary restraining order and/or preliminary injunction, and may do so without posting of any bond or other
security, showing actual damages, or showing that monetary damages are an inadequate remedy at law, (ii) other equitable or declaratory
relief, as may be proper, and (iii) recover its attorneys’ fees, expenses, and court costs.  If either party violates Sections 8 and/or 9 of this
Agreement, the time periods described herein shall be extended by that number of days which equals the aggregate of all days during
which at any time such violations occurred.
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b.          In the event that either party violates the covenants in Sections 8 and/or 9, of this Agreement, it agrees that the amount of

actual damages or loss sustained by the other party will be uncertain, difficult to compute, and irreparable. The Parties therefore agree
that the measure hereinafter provided represents the product of their good faith negotiations with one another. Accordingly, each party
acknowledges and agrees that if it violates the covenants set forth in Sections 8 and/or 9 of this Agreement, the other party shall be
entitled to the following liquidated damages: (i) if breached by Proman, his forfeiture of all of his existing options and warrants, regardless
of their status in-the-money or not; and payment of $300,000 to PDN; (ii) if breached by PDN, payment of $300,000 to Proman. The
Parties acknowledge and agree that this liquidated damages provision is reasonable based on the types of damages that could result from
either party’s breach of the covenants set forth in Sections 8 and/or 9 of this Agreement.

c.          Proman acknowledges and agrees that his violation of the covenants in Section 9 of this Agreement with respect to
individual officers and/or directors will result in irreparable and continuing damage to those individual officers or directors for which
there will be no adequate remedy at law.  Proman acknowledges and agrees that such damage is distinct from any damage that may have
been caused to PDN and that any individual officers or director who is so effected shall therefore be entitled to:  (i) injunctive relief,
including the right to a temporary restraining order and/or preliminary injunction, and may do so without posting of any bond or other
security, showing actual damages, or showing that monetary damages are an inadequate remedy at law, (ii) other equitable or declaratory
relief, as may be proper, and (iii) to recover his or her attorneys’ fees, expenses, and court costs.  Provided, nothing in this Agreementshall
be construed to in any way limit any individual officer’s or director’s rights of recourse or degree of damages should Proman violate or
threaten to violate the covenants in Section 9 of this Agreement.

d.          The remedies herein provided may be cumulative and no single remedy may be construed as exclusive of any other or of
any remedy provided at law. Failure to exercise any remedy at any time shall not operate as a waiver of the right to exercise any remedy
for the same or subsequent breach at any time thereafter.

12.         Miscellaneous.
   

a.          This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same instrument and shall be binding upon the Person executing the same.  This Agreement may be
executed by a signature page delivered by fax or by a PDF file via email.

b.          This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of Illinois, without regard to its conflict
of laws principles.  If any action is brought to enforce the terms of this Agreement, or any part hereof, or regarding the applicability of or
validity of this Agreement, the action shall be brought in the federal or state courts in Cook County, Illinois; and each party to this
Agreement consents to personal jurisdiction and venue by such courts over such Person and waives any defense of venue or inconvenient
forum with respect thereto.
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c.          This Agreement may be amended only by a writing specifically referring to this Agreement that is dated after the date

hereof and signed by or on behalf of each of the parties hereto.  Any waiver of any party’s rights is effective only if in writing signed by
such party and any such waiver shall be effective only for the specific matter waived and shall not be deemed to apply to any other
conduct, provision, or other matter.  No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement by oral communication or course of
dealing shall be effective.

d.          This Agreement constitutes the full and entire understanding and agreement among the parties with regard to the subject
hereof and supersedes any prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, written or oral, with respect to such subject matter, none of
which prior matters shall be binding upon the parties or have any legal effect.

e.           No inducement, warranty, or representation other than as set forth in this Agreement has been made or offered, or relied
or agreed upon.  And each party acknowledges that it has not executed this Agreement in reliance on any inducement, warranty, or
representation other than as set forth in this Agreement.

f.           This Agreement was negotiated between the parties at arms’ length.  Each party had the opportunity to, and did, consult
with independent legal counsel.  None of the parties will be entitled to have any language contained in this Agreement construed against
the other because of the identity of the drafter.

g.          Each party shall bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees with respect to the preparation and execution of this Agreement.

h.          This Agreement binds and inures to the benefit of the successors and assigns of each party.

i.           The recitals set forth above are incorporated in this Agreement as though fully set forth herein.

j.           In this Agreement:  (i) all pronouns and any variations thereof, and all defined terms, appearing herein shall be deemed to
refer to the masculine, feminine, neutral, singular, or plural, as the identity of the Person or Persons or the context may require; (ii)
“including” shall mean “including without limiting the generality of the foregoing;” (iii) “herein,” “hereof,” and words of similar meaning
refer to this Agreement as a whole; and (iv) section titles or headings are included only for ease of reference and have no substantive
effect.
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EXECUTED:

By PDN   By Proman  
     
     
     
/s/ Christopher Wesser  /s/ Matthew Proman 
Christopher Wesser   Matthew Proman  
EVP, General Counsel & Secretary     
     
     
Dated:   Dated:  
     
     
11/4/2016
       

11/4/2016
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 
I, Katherine Butkevich, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Professional Diversity Network, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date:          November 14, 2016
 
 /s/ Katherine Butkevich  
 Katherine Butkevich  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 (Principal Executive Officer)  

 
 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 
I, David Mecklenburger, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Professional Diversity Network, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date:          November 14, 2016
 
 /s/ David Mecklenburger  
 David Mecklenburger  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 (Principal Financial Officer)  
 
 
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Professional Diversity Network, Inc. (the “registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal

quarter ended September 30, 2016, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “report”), we, Katherine
Butkevich and David Mecklenburger, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of the registrant, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, that to our knowledge:
 
(1) The report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;

and
 
(2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations

of the registrant.
 
Date:          November 14, 2016
 
 /s/ Katherine Butkevich  
 Katherine Butkevich  
 Chief Executive Officer  

 
 /s/ David Mecklenburger  
 David Mecklenburger  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

 


